UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Interactions between the Unfolded Protein Response and Murine Gammaherpesvirus-68 Infection

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1rp9w35j

Author Feng, Jiaying

Publication Date 2012

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Interactions between the Unfolded Protein Response and

Murine Gammaherpesvirus-68 Infection

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Medical Pharmacology

by

Jiaying Feng

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Interactions between the Unfolded Protein Response and Murine Gammaherpesvirus-68 infection

By

Jiaying Feng

Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular and Medical Pharmacology University of California, Los Angeles, 2013 Professor Ren Sun, Chair

The gammaherpesviruses are unique in their oncogenic potential and their ability to establish lifelong infection. Their success results from a variety of delicate interactions with the natural hosts. In this thesis, we study the interaction between a host response termed the unfolded protein response (UPR) and infection of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (MHV-68). MHV-68 is a model virus widely used to study the human gammaherpesviruses. UPR is triggered by accumulated unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and activates a collection of signaling pathways (IRE1, ATF6, PERK) that can be beneficial or deleterious to viral replication. We found that cellular UPR is important for MHV-68 replication. The infection cycle of MHV-68 leads to a changing UPR in the host cells. Cellular UPR is inhibited at the early stages of infection and becomes upregulated later on. To identify viral modulators of cellular UPR, an unbiased screen was conducted, uncovering M1 as a strong UPR inducer and ORF40 as an inhibitor. M1 is found to localize to the ER and markedly induces the production of ER chaperones. It selectively induces the chaperon-producing branches (IRE1, ATF6) while sparing the translation-blocking arm (PERK). On the other hand, the viral helicase-primase component ORF40 is capable of downregulating each UPR pathway. We provide evidence that ORF40 may function through binding to and stabilizing the inactive complexes of the transmembrane stress sensors and chaperones to prevent UPR initiation. Despite the seemingly contradictory effects of the two viral proteins, further investigation revealed distinct expression patterns of ORF40 and M1 genes. ORF40 is expressed at the early stages of virus infection while M1 peaks at later stages. Intriguingly, M1 is found to be able to interfere with the anti-UPR function of ORF40. These findings explain the dynamic modulation of cellular UPR by MHV-68 during infection with ORF40 functioning at the early stage and M1 at the late stages of viral life cycle.

Collectively, the delicate regulation of UPR by MHV-68 suggests this cellular response is crucial in controlling gammaherpesvirus infection. Further investigation on the molecular interaction between the virus and UPR may yield important information for developing new anti-viral therapies.

iii

This dissertation of Jiaying Feng is approved.

Heather Christofk

Steven Dubinett

Jing Huang

Yibin Wang

Ren Sun, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2013

ABSTRACTii
TABLE OF CONTENTSv
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
VITA xiii
PUBLICATIONS xiv
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION
Herpesvirus
Persistent infection of herpesvirus2
Classification of herpesvirus
Tumor-associated gammaherpesvirus
Necessity of a model for human gammaherpesvirus infection4
Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 as a small animal model system
Interactions between virus infection and host responses
Endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response7
The key players of UPR: molecular chaperones11
Interactions between cellular UPR and virus infection
Bibliography15
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS
Cell culture
Chemicals

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Plasmids24	4
Reporter assays2	5
MHV-68 and quantification by plaque assay2	5
MHV-68-M3FL and quantification by firefly luciferase assay	6
Construction of recombinant MHV-6820	б
Immunofluorescence assay	7
Electron microscopy27	7
Western blot analysis	8
Immunoprecipitation	9
Real-time PCR	9
XBP-1 splicing assay	9
Bibliography	3
CHAPTER 3. CELLULAR UPR IS IMPORTANT FOR MHV-68 REPLICATION	4
Abstract	5
Introduction	б
Results	6
Discussion	5
Bibliography4	7
CHAPTER 4. M1 OF MHV-68 INDUCES ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM CHAPERONE	
PRODUCTION49	9
Abstract	0
Introduction	1
Results	1

Discussion
Bibliography72
CHAPTER 5. THE HELICAE AND PRIMASE COMPONENTS OF MHV-68 INHIBIT
CELLULAR UPR
Abstract
Introduction79
Results
Discussion
Bibliography94
CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES97
Summary
Perspective

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. A scheme illustrating the unfolded protein response signaling pathways14
Figure 3-1. Thapsigargin enhances production of Infectious MHV-68
Figure 3-2. IRE1α signaling promotes the production of infectious MHV-6840
Figure 3-3. ATF6 signaling enhances MHV-68 virion production41
Figure 3-4. PERK signaling has no effect on MHV-68 production
Figure 3-5. MHV-68 differentially regulates UPR at different stages of infection cycle44
Figure 4-1. Screen for viral mediators of host unfolded protein response53
Figure 4-2. M1 induces expression of ER chaperone genes
Figure 4-3. M1 induces ER expansion56
Figure 4-4. M1 and M3 are secreted proteins
Figure 4-5. The multi-step growth curve of M1cHA MHV-68
Figure 4-6. M1 localizes to cellular ER during MHV-68 infection
Figure 4-7. M1 requires ER localization for ER chaperone induction
Figure 4-8. M1 activates the IRE1 and ATF6 pathways of UPR64
Figure 4-9. Infection by M1-deficient MHV-68 leads to reduced ER chaperon production67
Figure 4-10. Multi-growth curve and viral gene transcription of WT, M1-stop (M1S) and M1-
revertant (M1R) MHV-6868
Figure 5-1. ORF40 inhibits cellular UPR
Figure 5-2. ORF40 inhibits the UPR signaling pathways
Figure 5-3. ORF40 interacts with GRP78, IRE1 and PERK
Figure 5-5. M1 interferes with the anti-UPR function of ORF40

Figure 5-6. The function of MHV-68 helicas-primase components in inhibiting UPR is	
conserved in other herpesviruses	89

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Primer sequences for plasmid construction	30
Table 2-2. Primer sequences used for recombinant MHV-68 construction	31
Table 2-3. Primer sequences for quantitative RT-PCR	32

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First I would like to thank my thesis advisor and mentor, Dr. Ren Sun for his invaluable guidance, advice, and support throughout the many years. I always feel fortunate to be the "luckiest ZJUer" working in his lab as an undergraduate, and came back as his graduate student. Ren has been a fantastic mentor. He walked me through the every stage of research with great vision and patience. He has taught me to be brave and confident. I would not have grown so much in science and as a person without his encouragement and motivation. In addition, Ren's passion and devotion in educating young students, as well as his loving role as a husband and father, have greatly touched me.

I also appreciate the time and effort put forth by my other committee members, Dr. Heather Christofk, Dr. Steven Dubinett, Dr. Jing Huang and Dr. Yibin Wang. They are my role models in science, and their valuable suggestions and advices have helped my projects moving forward. I am grateful to the past and present members in Sun lab, who have made the lab a home to me and have given me so much help throughout the years. A special thank you to my mentor Dr. Fuqu Yu. She is the one who taught me how to pipette and mentored me on most important experimental skills. Her guidance and friendship to me was irreplaceable. Thanks also go to my undergraduate students, Cassie Ding, Jennifer Chiong, Ryan Fu, Jane Wang, who have worked so diligently with me and brought me so much joy.

I want to thank all my collaborators inside and outside UCLA. Thank Dr. Yibin Wang for sharing expertise and providing critical reagents for my thesis work. Thank Douglas LaCount at Purdue for conducting the Yeast-Two-Hybrid analysis. Although the study is not included in the dissertation, I want to thank Dr. Chih-Ming Ho at UCLA, and Dr. Fred Elfman, Dr. Peter Krutzik, Dr. Garry Nolan at Stanford university for providing facilities and

xi

technologies to support my other project in studying signaling pathways that modulate KSHV reactivation. I want to thank the talented mathematician Dr. Ibrahim Al-Shyoukh for analyzing the data in the projects we collaborated on. Also I would like to thank all other people at UCLA who have contributed to my training and education including the ACCESS program and Department of Molecular and Medical Pharmacology.

Last but not least, I would like to express my sincerest thanks to my friends and family who have always been there for me. My parents, Yueming Feng and Liping Lu, for their unconditional love, support, and encouragement throughout my life. My husband, Jie Zhao, you are the sunshine of my life, I love you. And my dearest friends in the US and back in China, they have greatly contributed to where I am more than they will ever realize.

Part of Chapter 4 is a version of manuscript: **M1 of Murine Gamma-Herpesvirus 68 Induces Endoplasmic Reticulum Chaperone Production.** JFeng, D Gong, X Fu, T Wu, J Wang, J Chiong, J Zhou, G Lu, Y Wang, R Sun.

Part of Chapter 5 is a version of manuscript: **The Helicae-Primase Components Of MHV-68 Inhibit Cellular Unfolded Protein Response**. J Feng, J Chiong, J Wang, T Wu, Y Wang, R Sun.

The research presented in this dissertation is funded by in part by grants from National Basic Research Program of China (2011CB504803, 2011CB504305) and from National Institute of Health (CA91791, DE14153, DE15752, HL070079), UCLA Center for AIDS Research (CFAR) NIH/NIAID AI028697, and UCLA Jonsson Comprehensive Cancer Center (JCCC) NIH/NCA P30 CA016042 and JCCC Pilot Grant.

VITA

June 2007	B.S., Bioengineering School of Material Science and Chemical Engineering Zhejiang University Hangzhou, P.R. China
2007-2012	Graduate Student Researcher Laboratory of Dr. Ren Sun Department of Molecular and Medical Pharmacology University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, California, USA
2008-2009	Teaching Assistant Department of Molecular, Cell and Developmental Biology University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, California, USA
2009	Advancement to Candidacy for Ph.D. University of California, Los Angeles Los Angeles, California, USA

PUBLICATIONS

Xudong Li, **Jiaying Feng** and Ren Sun. Oxidative Stress Induces Reactivation of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus and Death of Primary Effusion Lymphoma Cells. J Virol. 2011 Jan;85(2):715-24

Ibrahim Al-Shyoukh, Fuqu Yu, **Jiaying Feng**, Karen Yan, Steven Dubinett, Chih-Ming Ho, Jeff S Shamma, and Ren Sun. *Systematic quantitative characterization of cellular responses induced by multiple signals*. BMC Syst Biol. 2011; 5: 88.

Fuqu Yu, Ibrahim Al-Shyoukh, **Jiaying Feng**, Xudong Li, Chia Wei Liao, Chih-Ming Ho, Jeff S. Shamma, and Ren Sun (2011) *Control of Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Reactivation Induced by Multiple Signals*. PLoS One. 2011;6(6):e20998

Chih-Chung Lu, Zhonghan Li, Chia-Ying Chu, **Jiaying Feng**, Jun Feng, Ren Sun, and Tariq M Ranaa. *MicroRNAs encoded by Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus regulate viral life cycle*. EMBO Rep. 2010 Oct;11(10)

Li Peng, Ting-Ting Wu, Jason H. Tchieu, Jun Feng, Helen J. Brown, **Jiaying Feng**, Xudong Li, Jing Qi, Hongyu Deng, Igor Vivanco, Ingo K. Mellinghoff, Christina Jamieson, Ren Sun. *The Inhibition of PI3K-Akt Pathway Enhances Gamma-2 Herpesvirus Lytic Replication and Facilitates Reactivation from Latency*. J Gen Virol. 2010 Feb;91(Pt 2):463-9

Fuqu Yu, **Jiaying Feng**, Josephine N. Harada, Sumit K. Chanda, Shannon C. Kenney, Ren Sun. *B cell terminal differentiation factor XBP-1 induces reactivation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus*. FEBS Letters 581 (2007) 3485–3488 CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Herpesvirus

Herpesviruses are a family of large DNA viruses with a wide host range in nature. From bivalves to humans, most animal species yield one or several herpesviruses during their lifetime [1]. The herpesvirus virion is composed of an icosahedral capsid, encompassing a linear double-stranded viral DNA. The capsid is surrounded by an amorphous tegument, and is wrapped in a cell membrane-derived envelope with viral glycoprotein splikes on the surface [2]. The size of a herpesvirus particle varies from 120 nm to 260 nm in diameter, with a capsid size around 125nm. The herpesvirus genome ranges from 124 to 230 kilobases (kb) in length, and encodes about 100-200 genes [3].

All herpesviruses share four biological properties: 1> encode a panel of enzymes involved in nucleotide metabolism, DNA synthesis, and protein processing; 2> viral DNA synthesis and viral capsid assembly take place in the nucleus; 3> production of infectious virions leads to the destruction of host cells; 4> ability to establishing long-term latent infection in their natural host [3].

Persistent infection of herpesvirus

The herpesviruses establish a life-long persistent infection by engaging two distinct genetic programs: latency and lytic replication [4]. During latency, the viral genome persists in the cell nucleus as a circular episome, and a limited number of viral genes are expressed [3]. However, when exposed to certain stimuli, latent virus enters the lytic replication, a phenomenon termed reactivation. During lytic replication, the viral genome become linear and viral genes are extensively expressed in a highly regulated manner. In addition, new infectious virions are produced which ultimately leads to the destruction of the infected cells. The lytic phase generates

2

de novo infections and enlarges the pool of latently infected cells, and therefore is believed to play a central role in viral pathogenesis in the host [3].

Classification of herpesvirus

The members of herpesviruses were classified into the alpha, beta, and gamma subfamilies based on their biological properties [3]. The alphaherpesviruses have a wide host range, a relatively short life cycle, and primarily establish latent infection in the sensory ganglia. This subfamily contains the herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) and Varicella zoster virus. The betaherpesviruses have a restricted host range, a long reproductive cycle, and can maintain latent form in secretory glands and lymphoreticular cells. Human cytomegalovirus belongs to this the betaherpesvirus. The gammaherpesvirus also has a limited host range. Most of the viruses in this group specifically infect either T or B lymphocytes and establish latent infection in lymphoid tissue. This subfamily includes the Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) and the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) [3]. The gammaherpesviruses are distinctively associated with lymphomas and other lymphoproliferative diseases [5].

Tumor-associated gammaherpesvirus

The gammaherpesviruses are unique in their ability to establish long-term dormant infection in lymphocytes and in their oncogenic potential [6]. Gammaherpevviruses are subdivided into four genera: Lymphocryptovirus, Rhadinovirus and the newly-defined Macavirus and Percavirus [7, 8]. Of relevance to the human gammaherpesviruses, EBV is a lymphocryptovirus, while KSHV is a rhadinovirus. EBV (formally, human herpesvirus 4, HHV-4) was first documented in 1963 [9]. It is one of the most common human viruses and occurs worldwide. In the United States, 90-95% of the adults become infected with EBV sometime during their life [10]; about 50% of all 5-year-old children have been infected with EBV[11]. Infection by EBV early in life typically causes no symptoms, however infection in adolescence or early adulthood causes infectious mononucleosis [11, 12]. Although rarely found in the United States, EBV is associated with nasopharyngeal carcinoma, Burkitt's lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease and other types of malignancies [9, 13-16].

KSHV (formally, human herpesvirus 8, HHV-8) was first discovered in 1994 and is the most recent human herpesvirus identified [17]. The infection rate of KSHV in North America is less than 10% of the general population [18]. However, in some portions of Africa, more than 50% of the population have been infected with the virus. KSHV is associated with Kapos's sarcoma, a cancer commonly found in AIDS patients, and primary effusion lymphoma and some forms of multicemtric Castleman's disease [17-22].

Necessity of a model for human gammaherpesvirus infection

Although both EBV and KSHV are medically important, studies of the two human gammaherpesviruses have been limited both *in vitro* and *in vivo* due to the restricted host range of the human gammaherpesviruses [18, 23]. *In vitro*, both EBV and KSHV are capable of infecting human B-lymphocytes and a number of epithelial and endothelial cells [24], but the infection typically results in latency rather than lytic replication [8]. Therefore, studies of the viral lytic gene functions have been mostly replying on single viral protein expression, which markedly limit the analysis in the context of natural infection. Additionally, lack of a robust small animal model has also hindered the research of virus-host interactions in a biologically

4

significant system. Therefore, it has become crucial to develop new experimental systems to gain a better understanding of gammaherpesvirus pathogenesis, establishment of persistent infection, and disease progression.

Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 as a small animal model system

To help elucidate the pathogenesis of human gammaherpesvirus infection, a mouse model for gammaherpesvirus infection has been developed and widely studied. Murine gammaherpesvirus 68 (MHV-68; also referred to as γ HV68) was initially isolated in 1980 from bank voles (*Myodes glareolus*) and yellow-necked filed mice (*Apodemus flavicollis*) captured in Slovakia. The virus is capable of infecting both outbred and inbred mice [24-29].

MHV-68 is genetically and biologically related to primate gammaherpesvirus, including EBV and KSHV [30]. Upon intranasal infection of the mice, MHV-68 lytically infects lung epithelial cells and subsequently establishes latent infection in the B cells of spleen [24, 31]. Infection of MHV-68 leads to splenomegaly and lymphoproliferative diseases similar to the symptoms seen in human gammaherpesvirus infection [32, 33]. In addition, MHV-68 infection in immune-deficient mice results in increased frequency of tumor development in the host mice [34].

The MHV-68 genome is approximately 120 kb and encodes about 80 genes [30]. Like all herpesviruses, the genes expressed during MHV-68 lytic replication cycle are divided into three groups: immediate early, early, and late open reading frames (ORFs) [35]. Immediate early genes encode transcription factors (e.g. RTA), and the early genes encode enzymes required for DNA replication before viral genome duplicates. The late genes are expressed post viral gene replication and encoded proteins required for virion assembly [36]. The viral genome also

5

contains a number of MHV-68 specific genes that are not required for virus replication, but are believed to play important roles in *in vivo* infection [5].

Unlike KSHV and EBV, which tend to establish latent infections in the cell culture system, MHV-68 is able to establish robust lytic infection in various cell types, including those of human, primate, rodent, and murine origins [25, 37, 38]; In addition, generation of recombinant viruses and mutagenesis studies are made feasible with the complete genome sequence of the virus [30] and with the establishment of the MHV-68 BAC system [39-41]; Finally, the MHV-68 mouse infection provides a tractable and cost effective small animal system. Collectively, these advantages of MHV-68 have made it an excellent model system to study virus-host interaction in human gammaherpesvirus infection, which would facilitate the development of new therapeutics against the gammaherpesvirus associated malignancies.

Interactions between virus infection and host responses

Viruses are intracellular parasites. Viral proliferation depends on the successful recruitment of host apparatuses and cellular components to support productive infection. Virus infection of mammalian cells comprises a series of events including viral entry, RNA expression, protein synthesis and processing, genome replication, virion assembly and egress. Each step of the infection cycle requires coordinated interactions among the viral proteins and more importantly, the utilization of numerous cellular machineries and resources [42, 43]. In the meantime, upon sensing the invasion of viruses, host cells often launch elaborate defense mechanisms to restrict viral replication. Therefore, in order to create a favorable environment for their replication, it is not surprising that most viruses have evolved mechanisms to overcome the obstacles they

confronted with, and developed strategies to properly manage and adapt to the rapidly changing environment in their hosts.

One of the obstacles involves the protein-folding processes. During a productive infection cycle, viruses produce a large amount of viral proteins in a short period. Such burden pushes the cellular folding capacity to its upper limit and leads to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. As discussed below that the ER stress response presents both threats and opportunities to viral replication. It thus becomes important for the virus to sabotage and/or modulate the stress response in order to create a suitable environment for viral infection.

Endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response

The endoplasmic reticulum (ER) plays a central role in protein synthesis, folding, and transportation with the help of a large set of ER-resident chaperones [44]. Multiple disturbances that alter ER homeostasis, such as calcium dysregulation, glucose deprivation, and viral infection can cause accumulation of misfolded/unfolded proteins that exceeds the folding capacity of the ER, and elicits the evolutionarily conserved unfolded protein response (UPR) [43, 45, 46]. Through a collection of ER-to-nucleus signaling pathways that control specific gene expression, the UPR is designed to re-establish homeostasis in the ER lumen. Notably, if UPR prolongs and cells are unrecovered, apoptosis will be triggered.

Up to date, three distinct UPR signaling pathways have been identified. Each signaling arm is specifically mediated by one of three ER membrane-bound stress sensors: inositolrequiring protein-I (IRE1), activating transcription factor-6 (ATF6) and protein kinase RNA (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK) (Figure 1-1). The three UPR transducers are constitutively expressed in all known metazoan cells. However, it remains controversial on how the three



Figure 1-1. A scheme illustrating the unfolded protein response signaling pathways. A fully executed UPR comprises at least three signaling pathways that initiate from the three transmembrane proteins IRE1, ATF6 and PERK.

signaling proteins sense the stress in the ER lumen [47]. The prevailing theory is that the inactive transducers are bound by ER resident chaperones in un-stressed conditions, and become activated when the excess unfolded proteins compete away the associated chaperones [43]. More recently, however, one study found that the IRE1 protein itself possesses unique properties in sensing the stress. The state of chaperone association is indispensible, but is not sufficient to determine sensor's activation statues [48]. This finding suggests that the stress-sensing mechanism of each transducer could be more sophisticated than previously speculated. Although the initiation of UPR remains obscure, the three UPR signal-transduction pathways have been well documented:

PERK - As UPR initiates, the most immediate response is a transient, reversible shutoff of protein synthesis, which reduces the influx of newly synthesized polypeptides into the stressed ER lumen [49]. This translational attenuation is signaled through the PERK transducer. PERK undergoes oligomerization upon stress, induces autophosphorylation and activates its kinase domain. Active PERK phosphorylates and inactivates the eukaryotic translation factor-2 on the alpha subunit (eIF2 α) at Ser 51 [50]. EIF2 α phosphorylation inhibits the guanine nucleotide exchange factor eIF2B, a pentameric that recycles eIF2 complex to its active GTP-bound form. Less active eIF2 result in less translation initiation [51, 52]. In addition to reducing global protein synthesis, activation of PERK also contributes to the transcription of approximately one thrid of the UPR genes via upregulation of transcription factor ATF4 [52-55].

IRE1 - IRE1 was the first stress transducer identified in yeast. The IRE1 gene is conserved in all eukaryotic cells. It encodes a type I ER transmembrane protein kinase that is required for UPR [56, 57]. It was subsequently discovered that IRE1 is a bifunctional enzyme. The protein also possesses a site-specific endoribonuclease (RNase) activity regulated by its

intrinsic kinase module [58]. Under non-stress condition, IRE1 remains inactive in a monomeric form. In response to ER stress, similar to PERK, IRE1 undergoes oligomerization and transautophosphorylation in the plane of the ER membrane and activate its RNase activity [59, 60]. The RNase activity of IRE1 induces a precise endonucleolytic cleavage of its only known substrate: an mRNA that encodes a transcription factor termed XBP1 (X-box binding protein-1) in metazoans [61, 62]. IRE1 cuts the precursor XBP1 mRNA twice, removing a 26-nt intron. The 5' and 3' mRNA fragments are then ligated. This splicing reaction generates a translational frame shift and the spliced mRNA encodes a larger form of XBP1. The mature XBP-1 is stable and functions as a potent transcriptional activator of a wide array of UPR target genes (e.g. ERdj4) [61, 62]. Whereas the protein encoded by the precursor XBP1 mRNA is unstable and inhibits UPR target gene expression.

ATF6 - The bZIP-containing activating transcription factor (ATF6) was identified as a regulatory protein that directly binds UPR-activated promoter elements [63], and a member of a novel class of metazoan-specific ER stress transducer [64]. ATF6 localizes at the ER membrane with a stress-sensing portion projecting into the ER lumen. Under conditions of ER stress, ER-localized ATF6 (full-length, 90kD) is transported from ER to the Golgi complex, where it is sequentially cleaved by two Golgi-resident proteases: first by S1P (site 1 protease) in the luminal domain, and then in the intra-membrane region by S2P (site 2 protease) [64-67]. The cytosolic DNA-binding domain of ATF6 (50kD) is subsequently released and translocates to the nucleus. From there, ATF6 activates UPR gene expression. Its target genes including the precursor XBP1 and ER chaperone genes glucose regulated protein 78 and 94 (GRP78 and GRP94) [66, 68, 69].

Although PERK, IRE1 and ATF6 signaling proceeds independently in ER–stressed cells, the three branches of the UPR extensively communicate with each other. For example, previous studies in *C. elegans* have suggested a functional redundancy between the ATF6 and IRE1 signaling arms of UPR: mutations that block either arm were well tolerated; however compromising both branches impeded worm development [70]. Additionally, the transcriptional effects of the three axes of the UPR overlap considerably, which is achieved by part through mutual positive reinforcement. For instance, XBP1, the central player of IRE1, is transcriptionally activated by ATF6 [61].

The key players of UPR: molecular chaperones

Molecular chaperones were originally defined as "structurally unrelated classes of proteins that mediate the correct assembly of other proteins, but themselves not part of the final product" [71]. Through controlled binding and release of target substrates, the molecular chaperones possess the ability to transiently assist in the folding, assembly and function of other macromolecules. They play essential roles in maintaining cellular homeostasis through multiples biological processes such as dissembling polypeptide aggregates, transporting proteins across membranes and escorting proteins for degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome system [44, 71, 72]. Malfunction of molecular chaperones has been associated with a number of human diseases including neurodegenerative diseases, cardiovascular diseases and cancer [73, 74].

At least 20 different families of proteins have been identified with chaperone activity [75]. Most of the intracellular chaperones function as housekeeping proteins and are constitutively expressed in non-stressful situations. The various families of chaperones are highly conserved throughout evolution and are present in the cytosol and ER in almost every cell type. The ER contains a large set of molecular chaperones that play key roles in ER protein quality control. They recognize and interact with a variety of newly synthesized polypeptides or misfolded proteins to promote their refolding to the native state [74, 76]. The major ER chaperones are the glucose-regulated proteins (GRPs) that include GRP78 and GRP94 [44, 73]. GRP78 functions through specifically interacting with the hydrophobic residues in the misfolded/unfolded proteins. The function of GRP94 has been fully understood. Recent studies have suggested that GRP94 may provide a platform for the assembly of large ER chaperone complex during UPR [44, 73].

The ER chaperones are drastically induced in response to ER stress to provide cytoprotection against the stress conditions [77, 78]. During UPR, a large amount of GRPs and other chaperones are produced downstream of the UPR pathways, and are transported back to the ER lumen to restore the protein folding capacity. It is important to note that the production of various ER chaperones is coordinated by the crosstalk between the three signaling branches. It has suggested that under ER stress, the production of GRP78 and GRP94 is principally induced by the ATF6 pathway but is also partially controlled via the IRE1 pathways; likewise, although the IRE1 branch has a dominant impact on the induction of the ERdj4 gene, the ATF6 pathway is also believed to play a role. [69, 79, 80].

Virus infection often leads to elevated expression of cellular chaperones. In fact, increased expression of a number of chaperones has been suggested to be a biomarker for some viral infection. For instance, a higher level of chaperone GRP94 significantly correlates with the progression of hepatitis B virus infection and thus can be used as a diagnostic and/or prognostic biomarker of HBV-related diseases [81]. On the other hand, accumulating evidences have indicated that actually viruses themselves require a variety of molecular chaperones to support productive infection. For example, the simian virus 40 utilizes chaperones for viron uncoating and entry into the host cells [82]; the hepatitis C virus (HCV) requires the GRP94 chaperone for

protease maturation [83]; both HCV and HBV are reported to involve a number of ER chaperones for viral protein folding [84, 85]; and the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) relies on chaperone cyclophilin A for virion assembly [86].

Interactions between cellular UPR and virus infection

Host UPR presents both opportunities and threats to virus infection. Some UPR functions can be deleterious to viral infection, while others can be beneficial. For examples, the viruses would not benefit from translational attenuation caused by activation of PERK, induction of apoptosis, and by an increased production of degradative factors. As such, different viruses have evolved a variety of mechanisms to manipulate the UPR in order to create a more favorable environment for productive infection.

Interaction with ER Chaperones – Infection of cells with RNA viruses often stimulates the expression of ER chaperone proteins. Examples include paramyxoviruses, such as simian virus 5 and respiratory syncytial virus [87, 88], and the flaviviruse family. Works on hepatitis C virus (HCV) have demonstrated that both infection and expression of a viral non-structural protein NS4B can stimulate the UPR signaling [89, 90]; the dengue virus (DENV) and Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) infection increase UPR molecules GRP78 and ERdj4 [91]. In addition, studies with hemagglutinin of Influenza virus revealed that the virus could induce production of GRP78 and GRP94 [92]. Recent studies have also demonstrated that the replication of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-coV) markedly induces the production of GRP78 and GRP94 proteins, and the key player is the SARS-coV splike protein [93].

Modulation of PERK signaling – Several lines of evidence have indicated a relationship between viral replication and the PERK pathway. It has been reported that in cells infected with

HSV-1, viral protein γ_1 34.5 plays an important role in dephosphorylating eIF2 α [94]; more interestingly, it was later discovered that the glycoprotein B of HSV-1 inhibits cellular PERK through direct binding to the stress sensor [95]. Both mechanisms lead to the resumption of protein synthesis in the infected cells. In addition, investigation in HCMV has shown that virus infection causes a wave of upregulation of UPR factors [96]; however it prevents eIF2 phosphorylation via inducing two viral genes TRS1 and IRS1 [97]. Finally, the African swine fever virus, which uses ER as a site for virion assembly, also blocks PERK signaling through unknown mechanism [98].

Regulation of ATF6 and IRE1 signaling – ATF6 and IRE1 function in relatively late stages of UPR as compared to PERK. Replication of HCV has been shown to stimulate the ATF6 signaling but inhibit the IRE1-XBP1 branch [89, 99]. A different pattern of the ATF6 and IRE1 signaling is observed in HCMV-infected cells [96]: the ATF6 pathway is suppressed, while the IRE1 signaling pathway is upregulated. It was later discovered that the cytomegalovirus US11 gene is sufficient to trigger such effects [100]. Another example is the infection by arenavirus. Acute infection of arenavirus selectively actives the ATF6 branch of the UPR to boost virus replication and host cell viability, while avoiding induction of both IRE1 and PERK signaling [101].

14

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. McGeoch, D.J., F.J. Rixon, and A.J. Davison, *Topics in herpesvirus genomics and evolution*. Virus Res, 2006. **117**(1): p. 90-104.
- 2. Connolly, S.A., et al., *Fusing structure and function: a structural view of the herpesvirus entry machinery*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2011. **9**(5): p. 369-81.
- Roizman Bap, P., *The Family Herpesviridae: A Brief Introduction*, in *Fields virology*, B.N. Fields, D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, Editors. 2007, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia.
- 4. Speck, S.H. and D. Ganem, *Viral latency and its regulation: lessons from the gammaherpesviruses.* Cell Host Microbe, 2010. **8**(1): p. 100-15.
- 5. Barton, E., P. Mandal, and S.H. Speck, *Pathogenesis and host control of gammaherpesviruses: lessons from the mouse.* Annu Rev Immunol, 2011. **29**: p. 351-97.
- Kieff, E.a.A.B.R., *Epstein-Barr Virus and its replication*, in *Fields virology*, B.N. Fields, D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, Editors. 2007, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia.
- 7. Davison, A.J., et al., *The order Herpesvirales*. Arch Virol, 2009. **154**(1): p. 171-7.
- 8. Ackermann, M., *Pathogenesis of gammaherpesvirus infections*. Vet Microbiol, 2006. **113**(3-4): p. 211-22.
- 9. Rowe, M., et al., *Burkitt's lymphoma: the Rosetta Stone deciphering Epstein-Barr virus biology*. Semin Cancer Biol, 2009. **19**(6): p. 377-88.
- 10. Henle, G., et al., *Antibodies to Epstein-Barr virus in Burkitt's lymphoma and control groups.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1969. **43**(5): p. 1147-57.
- 11. Henle, G., W. Henle, and V. Diehl, *Relation of Burkitt's tumor-associated herpes-ytpe virus to infectious mononucleosis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1968. **59**(1): p. 94-101.
- 12. Evans, A.S., J.C. Niederman, and R.W. McCollum, *Seroepidemiologic studies of infectious mononucleosis with EB virus*. N Engl J Med, 1968. **279**(21): p. 1121-7.
- 13. Sugden, B., *Epstein-Barr virus: a human pathogen inducing lymphoproliferation in vivo and in vitro*. Rev Infect Dis, 1982. **4**(5): p. 1048-61.
- Young, L.S. and A.B. Rickinson, *Epstein-Barr virus: 40 years on*. Nat Rev Cancer, 2004. 4(10): p. 757-68.
- 15. Purtilo, D.T., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus-associated lymphoproliferative disorders*. Lab Invest, 1992. **67**(1): p. 5-23.

- 16. Delecluse, H.J., et al., *Epstein Barr virus-associated tumours: an update for the attention of the working pathologist.* J Clin Pathol, 2007. **60**(12): p. 1358-64.
- 17. Chang, Y., et al., *Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma*. Science, 1994. **266**(5192): p. 1865-9.
- Moore, P.a.C., Y, *Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus*, in *Fields virology*, B.N.
 Fields, D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, Editors. 2007, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia.
- 19. Cesarman, E. and D.M. Knowles, *Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus: a lymphotropic human herpesvirus associated with Kaposi's sarcoma, primary effusion lymphoma, and multicentric Castleman's disease.* Semin Diagn Pathol, 1997. **14**(1): p. 54-66.
- 20. Cesarman, E., et al., *Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus in non-AIDS related lymphomas occurring in body cavities.* Am J Pathol, 1996. **149**(1): p. 53-7.
- 21. Soulier, J., et al., *Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in multicentric Castleman's disease*. Blood, 1995. **86**(4): p. 1276-80.
- 22. Cesarman, E., et al., *Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-related body-cavity-based lymphomas.* N Engl J Med, 1995. **332**(18): p. 1186-91.
- 23. Rickinson, A.B.a.K., E., *Epsterin-Barr Virus*, in *Fields virology*, B.N. Fields, D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, Editors. 2007, Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia.
- 24. Sunil-Chandra, N.P., et al., *Virological and pathological features of mice infected with murine gamma-herpesvirus* 68. J Gen Virol, 1992. **73** (**Pt 9**): p. 2347-56.
- 25. Blaskovic, D., et al., *Isolation of five strains of herpesviruses from two species of free living small rodents*. Acta Virol, 1980. **24**(6): p. 468.
- 26. Blaskovic, D., D. Stanekova, and J. Rajcani, *Experimental pathogenesis of murine herpesvirus in newborn mice*. Acta Virol, 1984. **28**(3): p. 225-31.
- 27. Mistrikova, J. and D. Blaskovic, *Ecology of the murine alphaherpesvirus and its isolation from lungs of rodents in cell culture*. Acta Virol, 1985. **29**(4): p. 312-7.
- 28. Rajcani, J., et al., *Pathogenesis of acute and persistent murine herpesvirus infection in mice*. Acta Virol, 1985. **29**(1): p. 51-60.
- 29. Blasdell, K., et al., *The wood mouse is a natural host for Murid herpesvirus 4*. J Gen Virol, 2003. **84**(Pt 1): p. 111-3.
- 30. Virgin, H.W.t., et al., *Complete sequence and genomic analysis of murine gammaherpesvirus* 68. J Virol, 1997. **71**(8): p. 5894-904.

- Sunil-Chandra, N.P., S. Efstathiou, and A.A. Nash, *Murine gammaherpesvirus* 68 establishes a latent infection in mouse B lymphocytes in vivo. J Gen Virol, 1992. 73 (Pt 12): p. 3275-9.
- 32. Doherty, P.C., et al., *Tuning into immunological dissonance: an experimental model for infectious mononucleosis.* Curr Opin Immunol, 1997. **9**(4): p. 477-83.
- 33. Tripp, R.A., et al., *Pathogenesis of an infectious mononucleosis-like disease induced by a murine gamma-herpesvirus: role for a viral superantigen?* J Exp Med, 1997. **185**(9): p. 1641-50.
- 34. Sunil-Chandra, N.P., et al., *Lymphoproliferative disease in mice infected with murine gammaherpesvirus* 68. Am J Pathol, 1994. **145**(4): p. 818-26.
- 35. Martinez-Guzman, D., et al., *Transcription program of murine gammaherpesvirus* 68. J Virol, 2003. **77**(19): p. 10488-503.
- 36. Nash, A.A., et al., *Natural history of murine gamma-herpesvirus infection*. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2001. **356**(1408): p. 569-79.
- 37. Rochford, R., et al., *Kinetics of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 gene expression following infection of murine cells in culture and in mice.* J Virol, 2001. **75**(11): p. 4955-63.
- 38. Simas, J.P. and S. Efstathiou, *Murine gammaherpesvirus* 68: *a model for the study of gammaherpesvirus pathogenesis*. Trends Microbiol, 1998. **6**(7): p. 276-82.
- Wu, T.T., et al., Construction and characterization of an infectious murine gammaherpesivrus-68 bacterial artificial chromosome. J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011.
 2011: p. 926258.
- 40. Adler, H., et al., *Cloning and mutagenesis of the murine gammaherpesvirus* 68 genome *as an infectious bacterial artificial chromosome.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(15): p. 6964-74.
- Adler, H., M. Messerle, and U.H. Koszinowski, Virus reconstituted from infectious bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)-cloned murine gammaherpesvirus 68 acquires wild-type properties in vivo only after excision of BAC vector sequences. J Virol, 2001. 75(12): p. 5692-6.
- 42. Fields, B.N., D.M. Knipe, and P.M. Howley, *Fields virology*. 5th ed2007, Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 43. He, B., *Viruses, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and interferon responses.* Cell Death Differ, 2006. **13**(3): p. 393-403.
- 44. Ma, Y. and L.M. Hendershot, *ER chaperone functions during normal and stress conditions*. J Chem Neuroanat, 2004. **28**(1-2): p. 51-65.

- 45. Ron, D. and P. Walter, *Signal integration in the endoplasmic reticulum unfolded protein response*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2007. **8**(7): p. 519-29.
- 46. Malhotra, J.D. and R.J. Kaufman, *The endoplasmic reticulum and the unfolded protein response*. Semin Cell Dev Biol, 2007. **18**(6): p. 716-31.
- 47. Kawaguchi, S. and D.T. Ng, *Cell biology. Sensing ER stress.* Science. **333**(6051): p. 1830-1.
- 48. Gardner, B.M. and P. Walter, *Unfolded proteins are Ire1-activating ligands that directly induce the unfolded protein response*. Science. **333**(6051): p. 1891-4.
- 49. Kaufman, R.J., *Regulation of mRNA translation by protein folding in the endoplasmic reticulum*. Trends Biochem Sci, 2004. **29**(3): p. 152-8.
- Lu, P.D., H.P. Harding, and D. Ron, *Translation reinitiation at alternative open reading frames regulates gene expression in an integrated stress response*. J Cell Biol, 2004. 167(1): p. 27-33.
- 51. Harding, H.P., et al., *Perk is essential for translational regulation and cell survival during the unfolded protein response*. Mol Cell, 2000. **5**(5): p. 897-904.
- 52. Scheuner, D., et al., *Translational control is required for the unfolded protein response and in vivo glucose homeostasis.* Mol Cell, 2001. **7**(6): p. 1165-76.
- 53. Harding, H.P., et al., *An integrated stress response regulates amino acid metabolism and resistance to oxidative stress.* Mol Cell, 2003. **11**(3): p. 619-33.
- 54. Harding, H.P., Y. Zhang, and D. Ron, *Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase*. Nature, 1999. **397**(6716): p. 271-4.
- 55. Ron, D., *Translational control in the endoplasmic reticulum stress response*. J Clin Invest, 2002. **110**(10): p. 1383-8.
- 56. Mori, K., et al., *A transmembrane protein with a cdc2+/CDC28-related kinase activity is required for signaling from the ER to the nucleus.* Cell, 1993. **74**(4): p. 743-56.
- 57. Cox, J.S., C.E. Shamu, and P. Walter, *Transcriptional induction of genes encoding endoplasmic reticulum resident proteins requires a transmembrane protein kinase.* Cell, 1993. **73**(6): p. 1197-206.
- 58. Cox, J.S. and P. Walter, *A novel mechanism for regulating activity of a transcription factor that controls the unfolded protein response*. Cell, 1996. **87**(3): p. 391-404.
- 59. Shamu, C.E. and P. Walter, *Oligomerization and phosphorylation of the Ire1p kinase during intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus.* EMBO J, 1996. **15**(12): p. 3028-39.

- 60. Papa, F.R., et al., *Bypassing a kinase activity with an ATP-competitive drug*. Science, 2003. **302**(5650): p. 1533-7.
- 61. Yoshida, H., et al., *XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor.* Cell, 2001. **107**(7): p. 881-91.
- 62. Calfon, M., et al., *IRE1 couples endoplasmic reticulum load to secretory capacity by processing the XBP-1 mRNA*. Nature, 2002. **415**(6867): p. 92-6.
- 63. Yoshida, H., et al., *Identification of the cis-acting endoplasmic reticulum stress response element responsible for transcriptional induction of mammalian glucose-regulated proteins. Involvement of basic leucine zipper transcription factors.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(50): p. 33741-9.
- 64. Haze, K., et al., *Mammalian transcription factor ATF6 is synthesized as a transmembrane protein and activated by proteolysis in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress.* Mol Biol Cell, 1999. **10**(11): p. 3787-99.
- 65. Ye, J., et al., *ER stress induces cleavage of membrane-bound ATF6 by the same proteases that process SREBPs.* Mol Cell, 2000. **6**(6): p. 1355-64.
- 66. Li, M., et al., *ATF6 as a transcription activator of the endoplasmic reticulum stress element: thapsigargin stress-induced changes and synergistic interactions with NF-Y and YY1.* Mol Cell Biol, 2000. **20**(14): p. 5096-106.
- 67. Yoshida, H., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced formation of transcription factor complex ERSF including NF-Y (CBF) and activating transcription factors 6alpha and 6beta that activates the mammalian unfolded protein response*. Mol Cell Biol, 2001. **21**(4): p. 1239-48.
- 68. Ellgaard, L. and A. Helenius, *Quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2003. **4**(3): p. 181-91.
- 69. Kaufman, R.J., Stress signaling from the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum: coordination of gene transcriptional and translational controls. Genes Dev, 1999.
 13(10): p. 1211-33.
- 70. Shen, X., et al., *Genetic interactions due to constitutive and inducible gene regulation mediated by the unfolded protein response in C. elegans.* PLoS Genet, 2005. **1**(3): p. e37.
- 71. Ellis, J., Proteins as molecular chaperones. Nature, 1987. **328**(6129): p. 378-9.
- 72. McClellan, A.J., et al., *Protein quality control: chaperones culling corrupt conformations*. Nat Cell Biol, 2005. **7**(8): p. 736-41.
- 73. Ni, M. and A.S. Lee, *ER chaperones in mammalian development and human diseases*. FEBS Lett, 2007. **581**(19): p. 3641-51.

- 74. Muchowski, P.J. and J.L. Wacker, *Modulation of neurodegeneration by molecular chaperones*. Nat Rev Neurosci, 2005. **6**(1): p. 11-22.
- 75. Ellis, J., *Chaperone function: The orthodox view*. **Molecular chaperones and cell signaling**, ed. B. Henderson and A.G. Pockley2005, Cambridge, UK ; New York: Cambridge University Press. xiv, 330 p.
- 76. Kosmaoglou, M., et al., *Molecular chaperones and photoreceptor function*. Prog Retin Eye Res, 2008. **27**(4): p. 434-49.
- 77. Mosser, D.D. and R.I. Morimoto, *Molecular chaperones and the stress of oncogenesis*. Oncogene, 2004. **23**(16): p. 2907-18.
- 78. Morimoto, R.I. and M.G. Santoro, *Stress-inducible responses and heat shock proteins: new pharmacologic targets for cytoprotection.* Nat Biotechnol, 1998. **16**(9): p. 833-8.
- 79. Yoshida, H., et al., *A time-dependent phase shift in the mammalian unfolded protein response*. Dev Cell, 2003. **4**(2): p. 265-71.
- 80. Lee, A.H., N.N. Iwakoshi, and L.H. Glimcher, *XBP-1 regulates a subset of endoplasmic reticulum resident chaperone genes in the unfolded protein response*. Mol Cell Biol, 2003. **23**(21): p. 7448-59.
- 81. Zhu, X.D., et al., *Significant correlation between expression level of HSP gp96 and progression of hepatitis B virus induced diseases.* World J Gastroenterol, 2004. **10**(8): p. 1141-5.
- 82. Schelhaas, M., et al., Simian Virus 40 depends on ER protein folding and quality control factors for entry into host cells. Cell, 2007. **131**(3): p. 516-29.
- 83. Waxman, L., et al., *Host cell factor requirement for hepatitis C virus enzyme maturation*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(24): p. 13931-5.
- 84. Choukhi, A., et al., *Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum chaperones in the folding of hepatitis C virus glycoproteins.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(5): p. 3851-8.
- 85. Lambert, C. and R. Prange, *Chaperone action in the posttranslational topological reorientation of the hepatitis B virus large envelope protein: Implications for translocational regulation.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(9): p. 5199-204.
- 86. Streblow, D.N., et al., Cyclophilin a modulates processing of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 p55Gag: mechanism for antiviral effects of cyclosporin A. Virology, 1998. 245(2): p. 197-202.
- 87. Bitko, V. and S. Barik, *An endoplasmic reticulum-specific stress-activated caspase* (*caspase-12*) *is implicated in the apoptosis of A549 epithelial cells by respiratory syncytial virus*. J Cell Biochem, 2001. **80**(3): p. 441-54.
- 88. Peluso, R.W., R.A. Lamb, and P.W. Choppin, *Infection with paramyxoviruses stimulates* synthesis of cellular polypeptides that are also stimulated in cells transformed by Rous sarcoma virus or deprived of glucose. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1978. **75**(12): p. 6120-4.
- 89. Tardif, K.D., K. Mori, and A. Siddiqui, *Hepatitis C virus subgenomic replicons induce endoplasmic reticulum stress activating an intracellular signaling pathway.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(15): p. 7453-9.
- 90. Zheng, Y., et al., *Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein NS4B can modulate an unfolded protein response.* J Microbiol, 2005. **43**(6): p. 529-36.
- 91. Yu, C.Y., et al., *Flavivirus infection activates the XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response to cope with endoplasmic reticulum stress.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(23): p. 11868-80.
- 92. Hurtley, S.M., et al., *Interactions of misfolded influenza virus hemagglutinin with binding protein (BiP)*. J Cell Biol, 1989. **108**(6): p. 2117-26.
- 93. Chan, C.P., et al., *Modulation of the unfolded protein response by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(18): p. 9279-87.
- 94. He, B., M. Gross, and B. Roizman, *The gamma(1)34.5 protein of herpes simplex virus 1 complexes with protein phosphatase 1alpha to dephosphorylate the alpha subunit of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 and preclude the shutoff of protein synthesis by double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. **94**(3): p. 843-8.
- 95. Mulvey, M., C. Arias, and I. Mohr, *Maintenance of endoplasmic reticulum (ER)* homeostasis in herpes simplex virus type 1-infected cells through the association of a viral glycoprotein with PERK, a cellular ER stress sensor. J Virol, 2007. **81**(7): p. 3377-90.
- 96. Isler, J.A., A.H. Skalet, and J.C. Alwine, *Human cytomegalovirus infection activates and regulates the unfolded protein response*. J Virol, 2005. **79**(11): p. 6890-9.
- 97. Child, S.J., et al., *Evasion of cellular antiviral responses by human cytomegalovirus TRS1 and IRS1*. J Virol, 2004. **78**(1): p. 197-205.
- 98. Netherton, C.L., J.C. Parsley, and T. Wileman, *African swine fever virus inhibits induction of the stress-induced proapoptotic transcription factor CHOP/GADD153*. J Virol, 2004. **78**(19): p. 10825-8.
- 99. Tardif, K.D., et al., *Hepatitis C virus suppresses the IRE1-XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(17): p. 17158-64.
- 100. Tirosh, B., et al., *Human cytomegalovirus protein US11 provokes an unfolded protein response that may facilitate the degradation of class I major histocompatibility complex products.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(5): p. 2768-79.

101. Pasqual, G., et al., *Role of the host cell's unfolded protein response in arenavirus infection.* J Virol, 2011. **85**(4): p. 1662-70.

CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND MATHODS

Cell culture

Human embryonic kidney 293T, 293FT, BHK-21, and Vero cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 100U/ml of penicillin and 100mg/ml of streptomycin (P/S). 293FT-IRE1 and 293FT-K599A cell lines were maintained in the same medium as above plus Hygromycin (100ug/ml) and Blasticidin (10ug/ml). NIH3T3 cells were maintained in DMEM containing 10% bovine calf serum (BCS) and P/S. All cells were cultured in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere at 37 °C.

Chemicals

Thapsigargin (Tg) was purchased from Sigma-aldrich and was dissolved in DMSO (stock concentration 10mM). Tetracycline (Tet) was purchased from and was dissolved in water (stock concentration: 1mg/ml). Phosphonoacetic acid (PAA) was purchased from Sigma-aldrich and was dissolved in DMSO (stock concentration 200mg/ml).

Plasmids

GRP78-fluc, GRP78mut-fluc and GRP94-fluc reporter constructs were kindly provided by Dr. Kazu Mori, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan [1]. The ERdj4-fluc plasmid was a gift from Dr. Laurie Glimcher, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA [2]. The 5xATF6-fluc and ATF6 expression plasmid was provided by Dr. Ron Prywes, Columbia University, New York, NY [3] and obtained via online purchase (Addgene plasmid 11976). The XBP1 splicing reporter plasmid (XBP1u-fluc) was provided by Dr. Yi-Ling Lin, Academia Sinica, Taipei, Taiwan, Republic of China [4]. The PERK and IRE1 expression plasmids were kindly provided by Dr. Yibin Wang, University of California, Los Angeles, CA.

The wild type ORF40, ORF44, ORF56, M1 and M3 coding sequences (GenBank

U97553) were PCR amplified from MHV-68 BAC DNA with an EcoRI site and Kozac sequence immediately upstream of the start codon and a c-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) tag before the stop codon and a BgIII site downstream. The PCR fragments were cloned into a pCMV mammalian expression vector (Clontech). All the mutant plasmids were similarly constructed using primer sequences listed in Table 2-1. Prediction of signal peptide locations in M1 and M3 proteins was performed on the SignalP 4.0 Server [5] (http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/SignalP/).

Reporter assays

293T Cells were grown to 60-75% confluency in 48-well plates and transfection was performed using BioT (Bioland Scientific LLC) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were lysed 24 hours post-transfection for dual-luciferase assays (Promega). For each assay, the firefly luciferase activity was normalized to the renilla luciferase reading in the same well, and the ratio was calculated based on the vector control (the value of which was set as 1).

MHV-68 and plaque assay

MHV-68 was originally obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (VE1465). Plaque assay was used to determine the titer the concentrated MHV-68 virus. 10-fold serial dilutions of each virus were prepared to infect a monolayer of Vero cells. After 1-hour incubation, the infected cells were overlaid with 5% methylcellulose-DMEM. After 6 days post infection, cell were fixed and stained with 2% crystal violet in 20% ethanol. Plaques were counted at the optimum dilution to calculate virus titer.

MHV-68-M3FL and quantification using firefly luciferase assay

The recombinant MHV-68-M3FL virus was previously constructed in the lab by inserting to the left side of MHV-68 genome a firefly luciferase gene driven by the promoter of M3 open reading frame [6]. Firefly luciferase assay was performed to quantify infectious MHV-68-M3FL particle. One day prior to infection, 1.5×10^3 293T cells were seeded in 70ul of medium into each well of a 96-well plate. 30ul of the original or diluted MHV-68-M3FL samples were added to the wells in triplicates. Luciferase activities were measured using the Bright-Glo Luciferase Assay System (Promega).

Construction of recombinant MHV-68

Recombinant MHV-68 was constructed using a two-step Red-mediated recombination method reported previously [7]. Briefly, the target sequence was divided into two fragments with an overlapping region of 100-200bp. The two fragments were inserted upstream and downstream of a kanamycin-resistance cassette that contains an adjoining I-SceI site in a transfer plasmid with the backbone of pGEM-7zf(+). Using the resulting plasmid as a template, PCR was performed with primers bracketing the two sequence fragments and kanamycin-resistance cassette. The PCR product was subsequently digested with DpnI to eliminate the template plasmid, followed by gel extraction and electroporation into SHG68 competent cells harboring MHV-68 BAC, at 1.8kV, 200Ω , $25 \,\mu$ F (1 mm cuvette). Positive transformed clones were then made subject to second round Red recombination that removes the kanamycin-resistant cassette. The resulting Kan-sensitive clones were confirmed by sequencing and expanded for BAC DNA purification. The viral BAC DNA was then transfected into 293T cells with an equal amount of plasmids that express the Cre recombinate to remove the BAC sequence. Three days post transfection, single

viral clones were isolated through limiting dilution, validated by PCR, and propagated. The genomic integrity of the recombinant viruses was verified by EcoRI, BgIII and KpnI restriction enzyme digestion. The primers used for constructing the recombinant MHV68 are listed in Table 2-2.

Immunofluorescence assay

NIH3T3 cells were grown to 60%-75% confluency in 24-well plates and were either transfected with designated plasmids or infected with the M1-cHA MHV-68 at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10. Transfected cells were fixed 24 hours post-transfection, and infected cells were fixed at indicated time points using 4% formaldehyde. Cells were then permeabilized and blocked in PBS containing 10% FBS, 0.5% BSA and 0.5% Triton-X for 1 hour at room temperature, followed by incubation of primary antibodies overnight. Mouse anti-HA (Sigma) was used at 1:1000 dilution and the Alexa Fluor 488 conjugated anti-Concanavalin A (Invitrogen) at 1:100 dilution. Cells were washed and incubated with Alexa Fluor 594 goat-anti mouse IgG (Invitrogen) (1:1000) for 1 hour. The Hoechst dye was added for 5 minutes prior to analysis under a fluorescence microscope.

Electron microscopy

Electron Microscopy Analysis was performed as previously described [8]. Cells were rinsed with PBS and fixed for 1 hr in 2% glutaraldehyde in PBS (pH 7.4) on ice. Cell pellets were collected and subjected to osmium post-fixation (1% OsO4 in PBS) for 1 hr (on ice), 2% uranyl acetate en bloc staining for 1 hr (on ice), followed by dehydration in an ascending ethanol series. The sample was infiltrated and embedded in Spurr's resin and then sectioned about 75 nm using an

UCT ultratome (LEICA). Sections were collected on naked grids (100 mesh, copper) and stained with saturated aqueous uranyl acetate and lead citrate from both sides. TEM imaging was performed using an FEI Tecnai TF20.

Western blot analysis

Cells were harvested in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl and 1 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40 and 0.25% sodium deoxycholate) supplemented with protease inhibitors and phosphotase inhibitors where applicable. The protein lysates were then centrifuged, combined with 4 \times protein sample buffer (0.25 M Tris pH 6.8, 40% glycerin, 20% β -mercaptoethanol, 8% SDS, 0.008% Bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 minutes. The denatured proteins were separated by 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour in 5% non-fat, and incubated with one of the following primary antibodies: monoclonal mouse anti-KDEL (Assay Designs), monoclonal rabbit anti-phospho-eIF2a and mouse anti-total eIF2a (Cell Signaling), monoclonal mouse anti-HA and mouse anti-FLAG (Sigma), mouse anti-myc tag (Millipore), mouse polyclonal anti-ORF 26 and M9 (generated in our lab). The membranes were extensively washed and incubated with appropriate secondary antibodies conjugated to HRP (donkey anti-rabbit or anti-mouse IgG, GE Healthcare) and developed by the Western Lighting system (Perkin-Elmer).

Immunoprecipitation

293T cells were rinsed with PBS and lysed on ice with lysis buffer (as described in Western blot analysis). Cell lysates were then incubated with Sepharose protein G beads that are conjugated with specific antibodies or control IgG overnight at 4 °C. The immunoprecipitates were washed

three times with lysis buffer then boiled in protein sample buffer (0.625M Tris pH6.8, 2% SDS, 10% glycerin, 5% -mercaptoethanol, 0.002% Bromophenol blue), and analyzed by western blot.

Real-time PCR

Total RNA from cultured cells was insolated using RNA Mini Kit (Invitrogen) and reverse transcribed into cDNA using qScript cDNA synthesis Kit (Quantas). 5ul of the diluted cDNA synthesis reaction was combined with 10x PCR buffer, Taq, Fluorescein, SYBR green and dNTPs, and specific primer sets listed in Table 2-3,. The reactions were run at 95 °C for 3 minutes, followed by 40 cycles at 95 °C for 15 seconds, 56-60 °C for 15 seconds, and 72 °C for 15 seconds. The results were analyzed with software Opticon Monitor (MJ research),

XBP-1 splicing assay

XBP-1 splicing assays, the XBP-1 cDNA was PCR-amplified using the indicated primers and were then made subject to PstI digestion. Digestion of the unspliced XBP1 produces two DNA fragments (291bp and 307bp). The final DNA products were resolved on a 2.5% agrose gel, stained with ethidium bromide and visualized by UV.

Table 2-1: Primer sequences for plasmid construction

Name	Direction	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')
M1	Forward	GAATTCAAATGCAGCTGGCCACCTTAT
M1_FLAG	Reverse	GAAGATCTTTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATCGG
		ACTGCTGCCCAGG
M1ΔSP	Forward	GAATTCAAATGTCCTGCATACTGGGCCAAAG
M1_F2	Forward	GAATTCAAATGGACCCTGACTGCCAGT
M1SP+F2	Forward	GAATTCAAATGCAGCTGGCCACCTTATGCCTTCTTTC
		CTGCATACTGGGCCAAAGCATAGCTCACTGGGACCC
		TGATCTGCCAGT
M3	Forward	GAATTCAAATGGCCTTCCTATCCACATCTG
M3 FLAG	Reverse	GAAGATCTTTACTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATCAT
		GATCCCCAAAATACTCCAGC
M1SP+M3	Forward	GAATTCAAATGCAGCTGGCCACCTTATGCCTTCTTTC
		CTGCATACTGGGCCAAAGCATAGCTCACTGGCTAGG
		TTTGGCACCTGCTCT
M3SP+M1_F1	Forward	GAATTCAAATGGCCTTCCTATCCACATCTGTGCTCAT
		TAAATGCTGCATCCTCCTGTT
M3SP+M1_F2	Forward	AAATGCTGCATCCTCCTGTTGGCAGGAGGATTGGCT
		GAGAGCCACTGGCCATCTGTGGTC
ORF40	Forward	GAATTCAAATGTGCAGACTTCAATGG
	Reverse	GAAGATCTTTATGATAAATTTAATAAAGTTTCATAA
		TTTGACAATAT
40_423	Forward	GAATTCAAATGGTAAAAACCAGCTGTGTCCA
40_846	Forward	GAATTCAAATGACATCATGGAAAGAACACTTACTTA
		AG
40_1272	Forward	GAATTCAAATGGTGGGACCCGACCT
ORF44	Forward	ACGCGTCGACCATGGCACTCTCTGACAGATT
	Reverse	GAAGATCTTTAATATACAAGTAATGTTTTTGGGTTGT
		G
ORF56	Forward	GAATTCGGATGGCCAGATACCACAGC
	Reverse	GTCGACCTACACTCGAGCATGCACG

Name	Direction	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')
EcoRI_M1cHA_LF	Forward	GGAATTCAAATTATGGCTTCTTTAGAACCCGA
		С
M1cHA_LF_R	Reverse	TTAAGCGTAGTCTGGGACGTCGTATGGGTATC
		CTCCTCCGGGACTGCTGCCCAGG
M1cHA_LF_F	Forward	GGAGGAGGAGGATACCCATACGACGTCCCAG
		ACTACGCTTAAGCCTGAATACATGTTTACTGG
		GG
BgIII_M1cHA_LF	Reverse	GGAAGATCTTTAATGGACTGAAGCCCGTCA
SalI_M1cHA_RF	Forward	ACGCGTCGACGAACAAAGTTCTTTACTGCAG
		AAAGC
BamHI_M1cHA_RF	Reverse	CGCGGATCCGCTTACAACCTACGCGGC
EcoRI_M1s_LF	Forward	GGAATTCAGATGCGTAAGGAGAAAATACCGC
M1S_LF1_NheI	Reverse	GCTTTGGCCCAGCTAGCAGGAAAGAAGGC
M1S_LF1_NheI	Forward	GCCTTCTTTCCTGCTAGCTGGGCCAAAGC
M1S_LF2_SpeI	Reverse	GAGGTGGCAGACTAGTTGGTGGGTAG
M1S_LF2_SpeI	Forward	CTACCCACCAACTAGTCTGCCACCTC
BgIII_M1s_LF	Reverse	GGAAGATCTATCCAGCAAAGGTGAGATCCAG
SalI_M1s_RF	Forward	ACGCGTCGACCCACCTCAGGAAGGGTCA
BamHI_M1s_RF	Reverse	CGCGGATCCTGGTGGCACCCATCTTGATG
EcoRI_40FLAG_LF	Forward	GGAATTCGAACAGTTGAACTTGTCACAAACAG
		TAG
40FLAG	Reverse	CTTGTCATCGTCATCCTTGTAATCCATTTTACC
		AGCGGCAGAAGC
40FLAG	Forward	ATGGATTACAAGGATGACGATGACAAGTGCA
		GACTTCAATGGCACG
BgIII _40FLAG_LF	Reverse	GGAAGATCTGGCAGATATTTTCATTGTGCATA
		AACGG
SalI_40FLAG_RF	Forward	ACGCGTCGACTGTGCGTTTTTCAGATTGGAAC
		AAC
BamHI_40FLAG_RF	Reverse	CGCGGATCCGTATGTCTCGGGAATCATATACA
		TAGACG

Table 2-2: Primer sequences used for recombinant MHV-68 construction

Taget Gene	Direction	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')
GRP78 (Human)	Forward	CGGGCAAAGATGTCAGGAAAAG
	Reverse	TTCTGGACGGGCTTCATAGTAGAC
GRP78 (Mouse)	Forward	CATGGTTCTCACTAAAATGAAAGG
	Reverse	GCTGGTACAGTAACAACTG
GRP94 (Human)	Forward	GAATGCTTCGCCTCAGTTTG
	Reverse	TCATCTTCGTCTTGCTCTGTG
GRP94 (Mouse)	Forward	AATAGAAAGAATGCTTCGCC
	Reverse	TCTTCAGGCTCTTCTTCTGG
ERdj4 (Human)	Forward	AAAATAAGAGCCCGGATGCT
	Reverse	CGCTTCTTGGATCCAGTGTT
ERdj4 (Mouse)	Forward	TTAGAAATGGCTACTCCACAGTCA
	Reverse	TTGTCCTGAACAATCAGTGTATGTAG
XBP1 (Human)	Forward	CTGGAACAGCAAGTGGTAGA
	Reverse	CTGGATCCTTCTGGGTAGAC
XBP1 (Mouse)	Forward	GAGTCCGCAGCAGGTG
	Reverse	GTGTCAGAGTCCATGGGA
GAPDH (Human)	Forward	TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC
	Reverse	GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG
Actin (Mouse)	Forward	CACCCACACTGTGCCCATCTAC
	Reverse	GTGAGGATCTTCATGAGGTAGTC
ORF50	Forward	GATTCCCCTTCAGCCGATAAG
	Reverse	CAGAC TTGTAGAAGTTCAGGTC
ORF57	Forward	GACCAAATGATGGAAGGAC
	Reverse	GCAGAGGAGAGTTGTGGAC
ORF29	Forward	CCACCAAAAACATGTGTCCT
	Reverse	TTGCTGGAAGTGCTTCCTTCT
M1	Forward	GCCCTTGTCACTTTTCTTTGG
	Reverse	TCCTGTGTTCTTGCCCATC

Table 2-3. Primer sequences for quantitative RT-PCR

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Yoshida, H., et al., Identification of the cis-acting endoplasmic reticulum stress response element responsible for transcriptional induction of mammalian glucose-regulated proteins. Involvement of basic leucine zipper transcription factors. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(50): p. 33741-9.
- 2. Lee, A.H., N.N. Iwakoshi, and L.H. Glimcher, *XBP-1 regulates a subset of endoplasmic reticulum resident chaperone genes in the unfolded protein response*. Mol Cell Biol, 2003. **23**(21): p. 7448-59.
- 3. Wang, Y., et al., *Activation of ATF6 and an ATF6 DNA binding site by the endoplasmic reticulum stress response.* J Biol Chem, 2000. **275**(35): p. 27013-20.
- 4. Yu, C.Y., et al., *Flavivirus infection activates the XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response to cope with endoplasmic reticulum stress.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(23): p. 11868-80.
- 5. Petersen, T.N., et al., *SignalP 4.0: discriminating signal peptides from transmembrane regions*. Nat Methods. **8**(10): p. 785-6.
- 6. Hwang, S., et al., *Persistent gammaherpesvirus replication and dynamic interaction with the host in vivo.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(24): p. 12498-509.
- 7. Tischer, B.K., et al., *Two-step red-mediated recombination for versatile high-efficiency markerless DNA manipulation in Escherichia coli*. Biotechniques, 2006. **40**(2): p. 191-7.
- 8. Peng, L., et al., *Three-dimensional visualization of gammaherpesvirus life cycle in host cells by electron tomography.* Structure, 2010. **18**(1): p. 47-58.

CHAPTER 3

CELLULAR UPR IS IMPORTANT FOR

MHV-68 REPLICATION

ABSTRACT

Endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress triggers the homeostatic unfolded protein responses (UPR) in mammalian cells to ensure efficient folding, sorting and processing of client proteins. In this study, we explored the effects of activated UPR pathways on MHV-68 replication. We found that in MHV-68 infected cells, chemical-induced UPR significantly upregulates infectious virion production. To determine the role of individual UPR signaling pathways in modulating virus replication, we measure the virion production in the presence active IRE1 α or PERK signaling in the host cell. Enhanced IRE1 α and ATF6 signaling result in a markedly increased production of infectious MHV-68; whereas, activated PERK signaling has no obvious effect on virus multiplication. We also examined how MHV-68 replication influences host UPR. Interestingly, infection of MHV-68 at the early stage results in an inhibited UPR; however, as the virus matures at the late stage of infection, UPR becomes significantly upregulated. Our findings suggest the chaperone producing pathway(s) of cellular UPR plays an important role at the late stage of MHV-68 replication.

INTRODUCTION

Accumulating evidence has suggested the importance of cellular unfolded proteins response (UPR) in virus replication [1-6]. ER stress/UPR caused by virus infection has been observed to modulate the three signaling branches that lead to cell survival or cell death [7-11]. The fact that viruses have developed strategies to modulate the UPR pathways suggests that these cellular signaling cascades play crucial roles in controlling viral replication, and understanding the underlying mechanism of this viral-host connection may provide insights in the development of novel therapeutics.

In current study, we investigated how UPR influences the infection cycle of MHV-68 in the host cells. We examined the effects of chemical-stimulated UPR on MHV-68 production. We further assessed the role of individual UPR pathways on virus production by specifically activating the IRE1α, ATF6, and PERK signaling arms. Finally, we show the impact of infection on host UPR during the MHV-68 infection cycle.

RESULTS

Chemical-induced UPR enhances the production of infectious MHV-68

In order to determine the role of cellular UPR in controlling MHV-68 infection, we assessed the effect of a pharmacological ER stress inducer on virion production. Thapsigargin (Tg) is an irreversible inhibitor of the ER Ca²⁺-ATPase. It depletes calcium storage in the ER lumen and induces ER stress [12]. NIH3T3 cells are pretreated with increasing doses of Tg for 1 hour. Tg was then washed off with growth medium, and cells were infected with a recombinant MHV-68 reporter virus MHV-68-M3FL, which encodes firefly luciferase under the viral lytic gene M3 promoter [13]. Viruses released from the NIH3T3 cells were transferred onto na we 293T cells.

The relative titers of the virus from each sample were determined by luciferase analysis. The luciferase activity has a wide-range, linear relationship with virus titers measured by plaque assay and therefore has been used to determine the relative amounts of infectious virion production [14]. We measured an increased luciferase reading at the highest dose of Tg treatment (Figure 3-1). Similar analyses were performed with Hela, 293T and 293FT cells, and the observations were similar to that of NIH3T3 with 293T displaying a stronger response. These findings suggest that chemical induced ER stress can enhance infectious virion production of MHV-68.

Enhanced IRE1a signaling of UPR promotes the production of infectious MHV-68

Next, we investigated whether by enhancing any of the UPR signaling branches can positively influence MHV-68 virion production. We started from the IRE1 α signaling arm. We utilized a tetracycline inducible 293FT cell line 293FT-IRE1 α with the parental 293FT as control. We also included the 293FT-IRE1 α K599A cell line as a negative control, which expresses a kinase-dead IRE1 α protein when induced with tetracycline. 293FT, 293FT-IRE1 α , and IRE1 α K599A were pre-treated with increasing doses of Tetracycline. Western blot analysis showed a dose-dependent expression of the IRE1 α protein treated with tetracycline (Figure 3-2A). Importantly, we observed a significant increase in XBP-1 mRNA splicing in tetracycline-treated 293FT-IRE1 α cells (data not shown), but not in the other two cell lines, indicating that IRE1 α overexpression specifically leads to enhanced signaling of the pathway. The induced cell lines were then infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 3 for 24 hours (one-step infection) and infectious virion production was similarly analyzed as in Figure 3-1. Significantly higher luciferase activities were observed with 293FT-IRE1 α cells treated with increasing



Figure 3-1. Thapsigargin enhances production of Infectious MHV-68. NIH3T3, Hela, 293T and 293FT cells were infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 3. 24 hours post infection, viruses released from the cells were transferred to na ve 293T cells. The relative titers of the transferred virus were determined by luciferase analysis 18 hours post transfer.

concentrations of tetracycline (Figure 3-2B); In contrast, 293FT and 293FT-IRE1αK599A cells treated with tetracycline had no obvious effect on MHV-68 virion production.

To assess the effect of IRE1 α signaling on a long-term, multi-step infection, water- or tetracycline-treated 293FT-IRE1 α cells were infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 0.01. Viruses produced from the cells were collected at 24, 36, 48, 72, and 96 hours post infection and titered by luciferase assay. We observed an accelerated production of infectious virion particles in IRE1 α -induced cells as compare with that of uninduced cells (Figure 3-2C). In addition, we also observed viral gene expression at a faster kinetics in cells treated with tetracycline (data not shown).

In summary, these findings suggest that the enhanced IRE1 α signaling can promote MHV-68 production.

Activated ATF6 signaling enhances MHV-68 virion production

We next assessed whether the ATF6 pathway play a role in MHV-68 replication. 293T cells transfected with an increasing dose of ATF6 plasmids were infected with MHV-68-M3FL. Notably, increased expression of the 90kD full-length ATF6 led to a dose-dependent production of the cleaved ATF6 (50kD) (Figure 3-3A), indicating a stronger signaling of the pathway. 24 hours post transfection, virus production from the cells was measure by luciferase analysis as described above. Activation of ATF6 signaling resulted in a higher level of luciferase activity as shown in Figure 3-3B, suggesting that the ATF6 arm of UPR also plays a positive role in enhancing the virion production of MHV-68.



Α

Figure 3-2. IRE1 α signaling promotes the production of infectious MHV-68. (A) 293FT, 293FT-IRE1 α , and IRE1 α K599A were pre-treated with indicated doses of tetracycline for 24 hours and were then infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 3. Cell lysates were collected 24 hours post tetracycline treatment and analyzed by western blot using antibody against IRE1 α and tublin. (B) Luciferase assay was performed as in Figure 3-1 to determine relative virus titer. (C) 293FT-IRE1 α cells were treated with water or tetracycline (1ug/ml) and were infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 0.01. Viruses produced from the cells were collected at 24, 36, 48, 72, and 96 hours post infection and titered by luciferase assay.



Figure 3-3. ATF6 signaling enhances MHV-68 virion production. (A) 293T cells were transfected with increasing amount of ATF6 expression plasmids or the vector control. Cell lysates were collected 24 hours post transfection and analyzed by western blot using antibodies against the HA tag and β -actin. (B) 293T cells were transfected as in (A) and 24 hours post transfection, cells were infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 3. Luciferase assay was conducted to determine relative virion production as described in Figure 3-1.

PERK signaling does not affect MHV-68 virion production

To determine whether the PERK pathway also has an effect on virus replication, we transfected 293T cells with an increasing amount of PERK expression plasmids, and infected the cells with MHV-68-M3FL. Production of infectious virions was determined by luciferase assay as described in Figure 3-1. The PERK signaling was measured by the phosphorylation of eIF2 α . As depicted in Figure 3-4A, expression of PERK protein leads to increased level of eIF2 α phosphorylation even at the lowest dose examined, suggesting that the signaling had became activated. However, MHV-68-M3FL virion production was not affected by induced PERK signaling (Figure 3-4B).

These results indicate that unlike the IRE1α pathway, the translation-blocking PERK signaling arm of UPR does not influence MHV-68 virion production.

MHV-68 differentially regulates UPR at different stages of the infection cycle

Since by stimulating cellular UPR can markedly upregulate MHV-68 replication and production, we hypothesize that MHV-68 may require and utilize the cellular UPR at certain stages of its infection cycle. To determine whether MHV-68 is indeed capable of manipulating host UPR during infection, 293T cells infected with MHV-68 were collected every three hours post infection for RNA extraction, and were analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR to measure the mRNA levels of GRP78. GRP78 is a UPR gene that is highly stress-inducible and its expression level serves as a UPR marker [15, 16]. MHV-68 significantly inhibited GRP78 transcription at the early stage of infection (3 to 12 hours post infection). However, at the late stage of infection (16 to 24 hours post infection), GRP78 expression was markedly upregulated (Figure 3-5).

The differential modulation of cellular UPR during the course of MHV-68 infection indicates that this host response may play important roles at the late stage of viral life cycle.



В



Figure 3-4. PERK signaling has no effect on MHV-68 production. (A) 293T cells were transfected with increasing amount of PERK expression plasmids or the vector control. Cell lysates were collected 24 hours post transfection and analyzed by western blot using antibodies against Myc tag, phosphorylated-eIF2 α , total eIF2 α , and tublin. (B) 293T cells were transfected as in (A) and 24 hours post transfection, cells were infected with MHV-68-M3FL at MOI 3. Luciferase assay was conducted to determine relative virion production as described in Figure 3-



Figure 3-5. MHV-68 differentially regulates UPR at different stages of infection cycle. 293T cells were infected with MHV-68 at MOI 3. Cells were collected every 3 hours for 24 hours post infection and subject to RNA extraction. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using a primer set specific for GRP78. GRP78 mRNA levels were normalized to that of GAPDH mRNA. The fold changes shown were calculated relative to the values obtained in vector-transfected cells (set as 1).

DISCUSSION

In present study, we investigated the role of cellular UPR in modulating MHV-68 infection and how MHV-68 infection cycle influences host UPR.

We provided evidence that induction of UPR by thapsigargin treatment leads to elevated level of infectious MHV-68 production. This finding is in agreement with previous work on the human gammaherpesviruses: treatment with thapsigargin induces the expression of KSHV lytic cycle-associated proteins and leads to increased virus production in latently infected PEL cells [17]; in EBV infected cells, exposure to thapsigargin followed by recovery resulted in the activation of the EBV gene expression and virus release [18]. These studies along with our study suggest that the positive effect of the cellular UPR on virus replication is conserved within the gammaherpesvirus family.

In addition, we showed that by specifically enhancing the IRE1 α signaling branch of UPR can markedly upregulate the production of infectious virion during both one-step and multistep infection cycles. We previously found that XBP1, the key player of the IRE1 α signaling pathway, is capable of inducing MHV-68 RTA gene expression (data not shown); consistently, the earlier studies in our lab showed that XBP1 efficiently initiates KSHV reactivation and lytic gene expression by activating the KSHV RTA promoter [19]; furthermore, XBP-1 has also been found to plays a critical role in EBV reactivation [20]. Taken together, these findings suggest a likely conserved mechanism in the IRE1 α -XBP1-mediated upregulation of viral replication among the gammaherpesvirus family members.

We demonstrated, for the first time, that ATF6 pathway positively modulates the gammaherpesvirus replication. The ATF6 pathway is the pro-survival axis of UPR, and is responsible for the production of majority of the chaperone. Induction of ATF6 signaling

augments the folding capacity in the ER. This adaptive response of the host cell may facilitate the biosynthesis of a large number of viral proteins required for optimal virion assembly during acute infection, meanwhile protect cell against virus-inflicted damage. Therefore, an activated ATF6 signaling would create an environment for virus multiplication.

On the other hand, unlike IRE1α and ATF6, the activated PERK signaling arm does not positively affect, if not negatively, on MHV-68 replication. Induced PERK pathway leads to a global translational arrest that ceases new protein synthesis. Therefore, this UPR pathway has been perceived as the deleterious aspect of UPR to virus infection and is often negatively regulated during virus replication [2, 21-23]. Thus upregulation of PERK may also be unfavorable to MHV-68 infection.

Finally, we demonstrated that MHV-68 infection could differentially mediate the cellular UPR. Through measuring the transcript level of GRP78, we observed reduced GRP78 expression at the early stage of viral replication. The hypothesis is that in order to initiate the infection cycle, it is critical for the virus to attenuate the UPR that would otherwise become detrimental to initial replication through, for instance, translation attenuation and increase protein degradation. Whereas, we found that at the late stage of infection, GRP78 expression became highly induced. As discussed in more details in later chapters, the elevated expression of GRP78 temporally correlates with MHV-68 late gene production and virion assembly. This indicates that at the late stage of viral life cycle, when abundant viral structure proteins are being produced and processed, assistant from chaperones become necessary.

In summary, our findings in chapter 2 suggest that cellular UPR plays a crucial role in MHV-68 infection cycle; and most likely, it effects at the late stage of viral replication.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Chan, C.P., et al., *Modulation of the unfolded protein response by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(18): p. 9279-87.
- 2. Pasqual, G., et al., *Role of the host cell's unfolded protein response in arenavirus infection.* J Virol, 2011. **85**(4): p. 1662-70.
- 3. Tirosh, B., et al., *Human cytomegalovirus protein US11 provokes an unfolded protein response that may facilitate the degradation of class I major histocompatibility complex products.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(5): p. 2768-79.
- 4. Trujillo-Alonso, V., et al., *Rotavirus infection induces the unfolded protein response of the cell and controls it through the nonstructural protein NSP3*. J Virol, 2011. **85**(23): p. 12594-604.
- 5. Yu, C.Y., et al., *Flavivirus infection activates the XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response to cope with endoplasmic reticulum stress.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(23): p. 11868-80.
- 6. He, B., *Viruses, endoplasmic reticulum stress, and interferon responses.* Cell Death Differ, 2006. **13**(3): p. 393-403.
- 7. Tardif, K.D., G. Waris, and A. Siddiqui, *Hepatitis C virus, ER stress, and oxidative stress*. Trends Microbiol, 2005. **13**(4): p. 159-63.
- 8. Su, H.L., C.L. Liao, and Y.L. Lin, *Japanese encephalitis virus infection initiates endoplasmic reticulum stress and an unfolded protein response*. J Virol, 2002. **76**(9): p. 4162-71.
- 9. Jordan, R., et al., *Replication of a cytopathic strain of bovine viral diarrhea virus activates PERK and induces endoplasmic reticulum stress-mediated apoptosis of MDBK cells.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(19): p. 9588-99.
- 10. Xu, C., B. Bailly-Maitre, and J.C. Reed, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions*. J Clin Invest, 2005. **115**(10): p. 2656-64.
- 11. Lin, J.H., et al., *Divergent effects of PERK and IRE1 signaling on cell viability*. PLoS One, 2009. **4**(1): p. e4170.

- Srivastava, R.K., et al., *Bcl-2 and Bcl-X(L) block thapsigargin-induced nitric oxide generation, c-Jun NH(2)-terminal kinase activity, and apoptosis.* Mol Cell Biol, 1999. 19(8): p. 5659-74.
- 13. Hwang, S., et al., *Persistent gammaherpesvirus replication and dynamic interaction with the host in vivo.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(24): p. 12498-509.
- 14. Li, X., et al., *Tpl2/AP-1 enhances murine gammaherpesvirus 68 lytic replication*. J Virol, 2010. **84**(4): p. 1881-90.
- 15. Lee, A.S., *The glucose-regulated proteins: stress induction and clinical applications*. Trends Biochem Sci, 2001. **26**(8): p. 504-10.
- 16. Kozutsumi, Y., et al., *The presence of malfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum signals the induction of glucose-regulated proteins*. Nature, 1988. **332**(6163): p. 462-4.
- 17. Zoeteweij, J.P., et al., *Targeted inhibition of calcineurin signaling blocks calciumdependent reactivation of Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus.* Blood, 2001. **97**(8): p. 2374-80.
- 18. Taylor, G.M., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress causes EBV lytic replication*. Blood, 2011. **118**(20): p. 5528-39.
- 19. Yu, F., et al., *B cell terminal differentiation factor XBP-1 induces reactivation of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus.* FEBS Lett, 2007. **581**(18): p. 3485-8.
- 20. Bhende, P.M., et al., *X-box-binding protein 1 activates lytic Epstein-Barr virus gene expression in combination with protein kinase D.* J Virol, 2007. **81**(14): p. 7363-70.
- 21. Isler, J.A., A.H. Skalet, and J.C. Alwine, *Human cytomegalovirus infection activates and regulates the unfolded protein response*. J Virol, 2005. **79**(11): p. 6890-9.
- 22. Mulvey, M., C. Arias, and I. Mohr, *Maintenance of endoplasmic reticulum (ER)* homeostasis in herpes simplex virus type 1-infected cells through the association of a viral glycoprotein with PERK, a cellular ER stress sensor. J Virol, 2007. **81**(7): p. 3377-90.

23. He, B., M. Gross, and B. Roizman, *The gamma(1)34.5 protein of herpes simplex virus 1 complexes with protein phosphatase 1alpha to dephosphorylate the alpha subunit of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 and preclude the shutoff of protein synthesis by double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. **94**(3): p. 843-8.

CHAPTER 4

M1 OF MHV-68 INDUCES ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM

CHAPERONE PRODUCTION

ABSTRACT

Viruses rely on host chaperone network to support their infection cycles. In particular, the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) resident chaperones play key roles in synthesizing and processing viral proteins. Influx of a large amount of foreign proteins exhausts the folding capacity in the ER and triggers the unfolded protein response (UPR). A fully-executed UPR comprises a collection of signaling pathways that induce ER folding chaperones, increase protein degradation, block new protein synthesis and may eventually activate apoptosis, presenting both opportunities and threats to the virus. Here, we define a role of the MHV-68 M1 gene in differential modulation of the UPR pathways to enhance ER chaperone production. Ectopic expression of M1 markedly induces the ER chaperone genes and expansion of the ER. The M1 protein accumulates in the ER during virus infection and this localization is indispensible for its function indicating that M1 acts from the ER. Indeed, we found that M1 protein selectively induces the chaperon-producing branches (IRE1, ATF6) and, interestingly, sparing the translation-blocking arm (PERK). We identified, for the first time, a viral factor capable of selectively intervening the initiation of ER stress signaling to induce chaperon production. This finding provides a unique opportunity of using viral protein as a tool to define the activation mechanisms of individual UPR pathways.

INTRODUCTION

The M1 gene is encoded within a locus of a number of open reading frames (ORFs) that are exclusive to the MHV-68 genome. Each of these ORFs is dispensable for *in vitro* growth, but essential for regulating aspects of *in vivo* infection [1-9]. M1 exhibits a 25% identity and 45% similarity to M3, another MHV-68 specific ORF. Previous studies have demonstrated that when mutated individually, M1 and M3 are nonessential genes for MHV-68 infection *in vitro* and *in vivo* [1, 10, 11]. Only one studies has reported on the extracellular function of the M1 protein as an activator of V4 β^+ CD8⁺ T cells [12], however, the intracellular activity of M1 remains unknown. In this study, we defined a role of M1 in controlling ER chaperone production through analysis with protein ectopic expression and usage of a recombinant MHV-68. Our findings on M1 gene in interacting with the host chaperone system provide new implications in how virus selectively deregulates cellular pathways amongst the complex virus-host interaction.

RESULTS

M1 induces ER chaperone genes

In order to systematically identify viral components of MHV-68 that modulate the expression of ER chaperone genes, we conducted a genomic viral ORF screen using a reporter system based on GRP78 expression. GRP78 is the most abundant ER resident chaperone and is highly stress-inducible [13]. The reporter construct (GRP78-fluc) used in the study contains the promoter region of GRP78 driving the coding sequence of firefly luciferase gene [14, 15]. GRP78-fluc was co-transfected into the 293T cells with PGK_renilla-luciferase (an internal control plasmid in which the renilla luciferase expression is driven by the constitutively active PGK promoter), and either individual ORFs of MHV-68 or a vector control. The reporter activity was measured by

dual-luciferase assay 24 hours post transfection (Figure 4-1). From the screen, a strong induction (>6-fold) on the reporter was consistently noted with multiple clones of M1 (Figure 4-1 & 4-2); in contrast, transfection with the sequence-related M3 showed basal-level activity comparable to that of vector control. The observed changes in reporter activity were specific for the stress response elements within the promoter region of GRP78, because M1 had no effect on the mutant reporter plasmid (GRP78mut-fluc) in which the response elements were eliminated [14]. In line with the reporter assays, the endogenous mRNA and protein levels of GRP78 were also upregulated in a dose-dependent manner with M1 expression as shown, respectively, by real time RT-PCR (Figure 4-2B) and western blot analyses (Figure 4-2C).

Since M1 protein expresses to a high level in transfected 293T cells, it may be argued that the induction of the chaperone was simply due to protein overload in the ER. However, the equally high expression of M3 protein (Figure 4-2C) did not elicit the same response rendering this possibility unlikely. It should also be noted that when performing a titrated transfection of the plasmid encoding M1, strong activation of the chaperones genes was observed even with a small amount of the plasmid (0.06ug/60mm-dish) however no effect was seen in cells transfected with maximal amount of the M3-encoding plasmid (2.4ug/60mm-dish) (Figure 4-2A and data not shown).

In addition to increased production of GRP78, we also observed significantly enhanced gene expression of the other two major UPR chaperones GRP94 and ERdj4 in the presence of M1 (Figure 4-2D). These findings directed our attention to the changes in the ER morphology. We speculated that in order to accommodate the newly-synthesized folding machineries, the amount or the size of the ER must have changed dramatically as described previously [16]. Indeed, electron microscopy analysis revealed a massive expansion of the ER in the M1-



Figure 4-1. Screen for viral mediators of host unfolded protein response. 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc, PGK_RL, and either individual ORFs of MHV-68 or a vector control. The reporter activity was measured by dual-luciferase assay 24 hours post transfection. The ratio of firefly luciferase activity to renilla luciferase activity was calculated based on the value of the vector control (set as 1)The upper panel is the readout from individual viral genes, and the lower panel is a zoom-in toward the left end of upper chart.



Figure 4-2. M1 induces expression of ER chaperone genes. (**A**) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc or GRP78mut-fluc reporter plamids, PGK-RL and increasing amounts of M1 or M3 plasmids. Cell lysates were collected 24 hours post-transfection and analyzed by dual-luciferase assay. (**B**) 293 T Cells were transfected with HA-tagged M1 or M3 expression plasmids for 24 hours and harvested for RNA extraction. Quantitative RT-PCR was performed using primers specific for GRP78. GRP78 mRNA levels were normalized to that of GAPDH . The fold changes shown were based on the values obtained in vector-transfected cells (set as 1). (**C**) 293T cells were transfected as in (**B**) and harvested for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for GRP78 and β-actin. (**D**) The promoter activities of GRP94 and ERdj4 were determined by reporter assay as described in (A) using the GRP78-fluc and ERdj4-fluc reporter plasmids, and mRNA levels were determined by quantitative RT-PCR as in (**B**) using specific primer sets for indicated genes. **P*<0.05. ***P*<0.01; ****P*<0.001 by Student's t test.

expressing cells as compared to cells transfected with the M3 plasmid or the control vector (Figure 4-3).

ER localization of M1 is indispensible for ER chaperone induction

In order to gain insights into the mechanisms by which M1 induces ER chaperone expression, we examined the cellular localization of M1 protein. Sequence analysis of M1 and M3 showed that both proteins contain signal peptides and cleavage sites located close to the N-terminus. The results also indicated that both M1 and M3 are secreted proteins, an observation confirmed in our study (Figure 4-4A) and by other groups [10, 12]. It has been well established that in eukaryotic cells, nascent proteins destined for secretion first enter the ER, where they are modified and assembled prior to transit into the secretory pathway. Indeed, both M1 and M3 proteins localize to the ER, as evidenced by significant co-distribution of the HA (M1/M3) and concanavalin A (Con A) signals (Figure 4-4B). Conc A is a probe reported to recognize the residues of α mannopyranosyl and a-glucopyranosyl commonly found in the ER and Golgi apparatus. To determine whether in the context of viral infection that M1 protein also enters ER, we constructed a recombinant MHV-68 (M1cHA) with an HA tag added to the C-terminus of the M1 ORF. The tagged virus is replication competent (Figure 4-5) and enables detection of the M1 protein during infection. M1 expression was induced at 12 hours post infection in the NIH3T3 cells, in accordance with the production of viral capsid proteins ORF26 and M9 (Figure 4-6A). In addition, we observed significant a co-localization of M1 with Conc A in the infected NIH3T3 cells (Figure 4-6B), suggesting the presence of M1 protein in the ER lumen.
A. Vector



Figure 4-3. M1 induces ER expansion. 293T cells were transfected with vector control (**A**) or plasmids encoding M1 (**B**) or M3 (**C**) for 24 hours, and were prepared for electron microscopy analysis. Arrows point to representative ER



B

Α



Figure 4-4. M1 and M3 are secreted proteins. (**A**) 293T cells were transiently transfected with the M1 or M3 expression plasmids and were treated with 10ug/ml of brefeldin A (BFA) (Sigma) or DMSO as solvent control. BFA is a strong inhibitor of protein secretion. 24 hours post treatment, proteins were collected from the culture medium (CM) or cells (IC: intracellular) respectively, and were analyzed by western blot using anti-HA antibody to probe for M1 and M3 proteins and anti-tublin for an internal control. (**B**) NIH3T3 cells transfected with M1 or M3 expression plasmids for 48 hours. Cells were fixed and analyzed by IFA using HA (red), conc A (green) and Hoechst (Blue) antibodies.



Figure 4-5: The multi-step growth curve of M1cHA MHV-68. NIH3T3 cells were infected with wild-type (WT) and M1cHA MHV-68 at MOI 0.05 and harvested at 1, 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours post infection. Following three freeze-thaw cycles of the entire cell and supernatant lysate, total viral titers were determined by plaque assay.



Figure 4-6. M1 localizes to cellular ER during MHV-68 infection. (**A**) NIH3T3 cells were infected with M1-cHA MHV-68 at MOI 10 and harvested at indicated time points for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for tublin (top), HA (middle), ORF26 and M9 (bottom). (**B**) NIH3T3 cells were mock-infected or infected with wild-type (WT) or M1-cHA MHV-68 at MOI 10 and fixed for IFA analysis as described in Materials and Methods using antibodies against HA (red), concanavaline A (conc A) (green) and Hoechst (Blue).

We then asked whether the ER localization is required for M1 to induce chaperone genes. To test this hypothesis, we generated an M1 mutant (M1 Δ SP) by removing the 18-aa signal peptide from the protein (Figure 4-7A). M1 without the peptide lost its ER-specific distribution (Figure 4-7C). Importantly, expression of M1 Δ SP did not activate luciferase expression from the GRP78 promoter, indicating that the ER localization of M1 is required for its function (Figure 4-7D). These results also rule out the possibility that M1 acts as a transcriptional activator of the chaperone genes, because even though M1 Δ SP displayed an increased nuclear localization, it did not activate the chaperone gene.

To further assess the importance of the ER localization of M1, we constructed and analyzed the following mutants: a C-terminal fragment of M1 (M1_F2); an M1_F2 fused with the M1 signal peptide at its N-terminus (M1SP+F2); an M3 mutant containing the M1 signal peptide (M1SP+M3) and an M1 mutant containing the M3 signal peptide (M3SP+M1) (Figure 4-7A). All four clones were also engineered with an N-terminal HA tag and a C-terminal FLAG tag. This arrangement allowed us to determine whether the N-terminal cleavage took place due to the presence of the signal peptide. Cells were transfected with individual clones and subject to western blot analysis using HA and FLAG antibodies respectively (Figure 4-7B). As expected, proteins bearing the M1 signal peptide sequence (i.e.: M1, M1SP+F2, M1SP+M3) could not be detected by the HA antibody (upper panel: Lane 1, 4, 6) indicating a cleavage at the N-terminus. In addition, IFA analysis revealed that all three proteins located to the ER (Figure 4-7C). In contrast, clones without the signal peptide (M1 Δ SP, M1 F2) were detectable by both HA and FLAG antibodies (upper and lower panels: Lane 2, 3), and IFA analysis showed that these proteins are distributed throughout the cells with no specific ER localization (Figure 4-7C). It is noteworthy that the HA antibody picked up a small amount of M3 protein suggesting that cleavage of M3 was incomplete when the protein is translated and processed (Lane 5). And the retarded cleavage became more evident in M3SP+M1 expression (Lane 7) indicating that the M3 signal peptide causes slower cleavage than does that of M1.

Next, we performed reporter assays to determine how the mutations affected ER chaperone induction. 293T cells were transfected with each mutant construct and the GRP78-fluc reporter plasmid. Similar to what we observed with M1 Δ SP, the M1_F2 had no effect on the reporter activity. However, with the addition of M1 signal peptide, the mutant protein (M1SP+F2) induced reporter activity to the same degree as wild type M1. More interestingly, while M3 had no effect on GRP78 expression (Figure 4-2), by replacing its own signal peptide with that of M1, the M3 protein became a modest inducer of the GRP78 reporter (~a 2-fold increase). On the other hand, not surprisingly, even with a swapped signal peptide, the ER-localized M3SP+M1 was still capable of stimulating the GRP78 promoter (Figure 4-7D). Collectively, the above findings indicate that M1 acts through ER-to-nucleus signaling pathways and that the ER localization of M1 is indispensible for its function in ER chaperones induction. In addition, mutagenesis studies revealed that the M1 protein requires both its signal peptide and at least portion of its intraluminal fragment to reach the full potential of function.

M1 activates the IRE1 and ATF6 axes of UPR to induce ER chaperone genes

ER chaperones are constantly expressed under all growth conditions. However a dramatic increase in their synthesis can be caused by activation of UPR in stressful conditions. Induction of different ER chaperone genes requires the cooperation between the three UPR signaling pathways [17-19]. Thereby, to specify the signaling branch(es) affected by M1, we set out to examine the status of each UPR signaling axis in M1-expressing cells.



Figure 4-7. M1 requires ER localization for ER chaperone induction. (**A**) Schematic diagram of the M1 mutant constructs. (**B**) 293T cells were transfected for 24 hours with M1 mutant plamids and harvested for western blot analysis using antibodies against tublin (top), HA (middle) or FLAG (bottom). (**C**) NIH3T3 cells transfected with the indicated M1 mutant constructs were fixed and analyzed by IFA using FLAG (red), conc A (green) and Hoechst (Blue) antibodies. (**D**) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc, PGK-RL, and M1 mutant plasmids. Cell lysates were collected 24 hours posttransfection and analyzed by dual-luciferase assays.

To test whether M1 affects the IRE1 pathway, we probed for the unconventional splicing of XBP1 mRNA using RT-PCR and reporter assay. XBP1 cDNA was amplified using primers flanking the splicing sites and the PCR products were made subject to PstI digestion. PstI cuts a site within the 26-nt intron in the unspliced XBP1 (XBP1u) but leaves the spliced XBP1 (XBP1s) intact. In cells expressing M1, an elevated level of XBP1s was observed, manifested by an increased amount of spliced products that are resistant to PstI digestion (Figure 4-8A). To quantitatively measure the splicing of XBP1, we employed a splicing-specific reporter system (pXBP1u-fluc). pXBP1u-fluc consists the coding sequence of firefly luciferase conjugated to the second ORF of XBP1u. Therefore, the luciferase is expressed only after IRE1-induced splicing removes the 26-nt intron [20]. Consistent with the PstI digestion results, M1 expression markedly increased the reporter activity to about 9-fold that of vector control (Figure 4-8C).

When examining XBP1 splicing, we noticed that cells transfected with M1 expressed a higher level of total XBP1 mRNA than did vector or M3-transfected cells (Figure 4-8B). Since XBP1 is produced downstream of activated ATF6, we suspected that the ATF6 pathway may also be stimulated by M1 expression. To determine if the ATF6 pathway is activated in response to M1, we used a reporter plasmid (p5XATF6-fluc) that contains five copies of ATF6 consensus binding site upstream of the firefly luciferase coding sequence [21]. M1 strongly upregulated the luciferase activity driven from the reporter (Figure 4-8D), suggesting that the ATF6 pathway was also activated by M1.

Finally, to investigate the PERK-mediated signaling in response to M1 expression, we examined the phosphorylation of eIF2 α (p-eIF2 α) induced by PERK upon UPR. To our surprise, p-eIF2 α was not influenced by M1 expression (Figure 4-8E). As a positive control, treatment



Figure 4-8. M1 activates the IRE1 and ATF6, but not the PERK pathways of UPR. (A) Left: analysis scheme for XBP1 mRNA splicing: the approximate location of the 26-nt intron, PstI digestion site, and PCR primers are shown. Right: the reverse transcripts of total XBP1 mRNA were analyzed by PstI digestion (described in Chapter 2). β-actin transcripts were included as loading controls. **(B)** Total XBP1 mRNA level was determined by quantitative RT-PCR. **(C)** Reporter assay was performed using the XBP1u-fluc and was analyzed as described in Figure 1A. **(D)** Reporter assay was performed using the 5XATF6-fluc plasmid. **(E)** 293T cells were transfected with M1 plasmid or the control vector for 24 hours, treated with 20nM Thapsigargin (TG) (lane 1) or DMSO (lane 2,3,4) for 30 minutes, and harvested for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for phosphorylated-eIF2a, total eIF2a and β-actin.

of Thapsigargin (TG), an ER stress inducer, led to a significant increase in the ratio of p-eIF2 α to total eIF2 α , indicating the PERK-eIF2 α pathway was functionally intact and our assay is valid.

Infection by M1-deficient virus leads to reduced ER chaperone production.

To extend the study on the importance of M1 in virus-mediate ER chaperone production, we constructed two recombinant MHV-68: An M1-stop virus (M1S) that contains two stop codons close to the N-terminal of the coding sequence (Figure 4-9A) and a revertant virus of the M1S (M1R) in which the two stop codons were reverted back to wild type sequence to ensure what we observed with M1S viruses can be attributed to M1 deficiency rather than other unintentional mutations in the viral genome. Removal of the M1 expression from the MHV-68 genome had no effect on viral growth kinetics in vitro (Figure 4-10) consistent with previous observations [1, 12].

293T cells transfected with GRP78-fluc reporter construct were either mock infected or infected with the wild type (WT), M1S or M1R MHV-68 at MOI 5. Cells were collected 18 hours post infection for dual-luciferase assays. Infection with WT and M1R virus led to a moderate increase in luciferase production, whereas M1S was not able to induce the reporter activity to an equivalent level (Figure 4-9B). To further demonstrate that the observed phenotype is specific to the GRP78 promoter, cells were transfected with the GRP78mut-fluc plasmids and were identically infected. None of the viruses had a significant effect on the mutant reporter construct. We next performed similar tests with the other available reporter constructs including GRP94-fluc, ERdj4-fluc and XBP1u-fluc. In all cases, attenuated reporter activities were observed in cells infected with the M1S virus as compared to cells infected with WT and M1R MHV-68 (Figure 4-9C).

To precisely define the kinetics of chaperone gene expression influenced by M1 during infection, the total RNA was harvested at indicated time points from NIH3T3 cells that were infected with WT, M1S or M1R viruses. The GRP78 mRNA level was determined by RT-PCR. Interestingly, prior to 8 hours post infection, the transcript levels of GRP78 remained comparable among all infected cells (Data not shown). However, at 12 and 16 hours post infection, times at which M1 protein becomes abundantly expressed (Figure 4-6A), the cells infected with M1S showed a major reduction of GRP78 transcript in comparison to cells infected with WT of M1R viruses (Figure 4-9D).

It should be noted that infection by WT or M1R MHV-68 led to a lower induction of chaperone genes (Figure 4-9B) in comparison to cells transfected with M1 gene coding plasmids (Figure 4-2A). One possible explanation is the different protein expression levels of M1 during infection versus transient over-expression; on the other hand, based on the screen results, we speculated that there are one or more viral factors that actually function to limit the signaling pathways involved in regulation of both the chaperone genes and other cellular factors unfavored in viral replication. It would be of interest to uncover how virus manipulates the chaperone network and its associated cellular machineries in order to achieve a balanced and beneficial outcome.

DISCUSSION

In present work, we identified M1 of MHV-68 that can efficiently induce the ER chaperone gene expression. In particular, we found that the ER-localized M1 functions through selective activation of the chaperone-inducing branches (IRE1 and ATF6) of UPR pathways while sparing the translation-inhibiting cascade (PERK).



Α



M1S GACCATGCAGCTGGCCACCTTATGCCTTCTTCCTGCTAGCT.....CCACCAACTAGTCTG...

Figure 4-9. Infection by M1-deficient MHV-68 leads to reduced ER chaperon production. (**A**) Schematic diagram showing the construction of the M1stop MHV68 by introducing two stop codons (TAG) and two digestion sites (NheI, SpeI) into the M1 gene. (**B**) 293T cells were transfected for 24 hours with GRP78_fluc or GRP78mut_fluc and PGK_RL plasmids, and were mock infected or infected with wild-type (WT), M1stop (M1S) or M1 revertent (M1R) MHV-68 at MOI 5 for 18 hours. Cells were lysed and analyzed by dual-luciferase assay as in Figure 1A. The ratio was calculated based on the unifected control. (**C**) Reporter assays were performed using the GRP94-fluc, ERdj4-fluc and XBP1u-fluc constructs. (**D**) NIH3T3 cells were mock infected or infected with WT, M1S or M1R MHV-68 at MOI 10. Cells were harvested at indicated time points for RNA extraction and analyzed by Quantitative RT-PCR using primer sets specific for indicated genes. The fold change is calculated based on the unifected cells.







Figure 4-10: Multi-growth curve and viral gene transcription of WT, M1-stop (M1S) and M1-revertant (M1R) MHV-68. NIH3T3 cells were infected with indicated MHV-68 at MOI 0.05 and harvested at 1, 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours post infection. Following three freeze-thaw cycles of the entire cell and supernatant lysate, viral titers were determined by plaque assay. (B) Comparison between the WT, M1-stop (M1S) and M1-revertant (M1R) MHV-68.

M1 is a viral gene unique to MHV-68. Previous study has reported that disruption of the M1 gene led to enhanced reactivation of the virus in *in vivo* infection [1]. It was later reported by the same group that secreted M1 protein act as a viral superantigen and is responsible for V β 4⁺ CD8⁺ T cell stimulation during MHV-68 infection in mice [12]. However, it has not been fully elucidated whether M1 plays a role inside the host cell. Here we discovered a novel function for the intracellular M1 protein. We found that M1 differentially modulate the UPR signaling cascades and preferentially induces the two chaperone-producing branches to activate ER chaperone expression. Specifically, the M1 protein stimulates the IRE1 and the ATF6 axes but spares the PERK pathway of UPR signaling. It is of interest that the virus selectively acts on the beneficial aspects of the UPR program while avoiding the detrimental features. One possible explanation is that the virus takes advantage of different stress sensing or activation mechanisms deployed by the three ER transmembrane sensors (i.e. IRE1, ATF6 and PERK). Although it is still unclear how these signaling proteins sense the ER stress, a recent study used the threedimensional structure analysis to demonstrate that IRE1 activation can be caused by direct binding to the unfolded proteins rather than by chaperone association as suggested earlier on [22]. This finding implicates that the three branches of UPR signaling network may be distinctly modulated at the initiation stage. We propose that certain undefined properties in the M1 protein leads to the differentiated modulation on the UPR sensors. Therefore, using M1 as a tool may offer a unique opportunity to dissect the mechanism underlying UPR sensing and regulation.

It is worth mentioning that we also demonstrated that M1 requires ER localization for inducing chaperones, because the induction was lost by removal of the signal peptide, concomitantly with the loss of ER localization. More interestingly, the signal peptide of M1 enables non-inducing protein fragments to become activators of ER chaperone genes (Figure 47). We suspect that the 18-aa signal peptide of M1 protein plays an important role in switching on the IRE1 and ATF6 signaling axes through mechanisms that worth future investigation. Still, the presence of the intraluminal portion of M1 is critical to reach the full potential of its function in activating ER chaperone genes. Our hypothesis is that M1 requires the signal peptide to translocate to the action point, where the protein carries out its function.

It has been extensively reported that during a wide array of virus infections, cellular chaperones are elicited and play essential roles at various stages of the viral life cycle. Accumulating studies have shown that viruses are able to engage the host chaperone machinery to support effective cell entry and nuclear import [23-28], viral genome replication [29-32], viral protein expression and folding [33-36], and virion assembly [37-40]. In addition, examples have been found wherein viruses pack the host chaperons into the virion core before egress and that the incorporated proteins are necessary for invading new cells [41]. More surprisingly, some viruses can even encode proteins that exhibit chaperone-like activities to facilitate their infection (e.g.: TAg of SV40) [42]. Furthermore, host chaperons are also utilized by the viruses to manipulate other cellular processes. Earlier studies have demonstrated that elevated levels of chaperone proteins can protect cells against apoptosis and confer resistance to cytotoxic and antimicrobial drugs [43-45]. Several reports further proposed that specific inhibition of the infection-induced chaperones may provide a solution to the appearance of drug resistant pathogens [46, 47]. One recent study found that the inhibition of the Hsp90 chaperone in vitro and *in vivo* can prevent the outgrowth of EBV-transformed lymphoblastoid [48]. Moreover, a growing body of evidence suggests that improper activation of the UPR pathways and uncontrolled production of chaperones can adversely affect the immune response, a phenomenon exploited by certain viruses for an adaptive advantage [49, 50]. To sum up, by augmenting the

expression of chaperone proteins can create an environment favorable to virulence and may have become a survival tactic among different viruses. In response to such high demand of cellular chaperones during infection, viruses have the urge to evolve mechanisms to boost the chaperone production.

The fact that gamma-herpesviruses are capable of establishing lifetime persistence suggests that the viruses were evolved with ingenious skills to interact with their hosts. It is natural that different viruses adopt distinct approaches to tackle similar environmental challenges. For instance, previous studies have found that the M2 protein unique to MHV-68 enhances the cellular interleukin-10 (IL-10) expression to promote B cell growth and differentiation [51] while EBV encodes a viral IL-10 homolog to achieve the same goal [52]. Another example is the regulation of cell cycle through cyclin D: MHV-68 and KSHV depend on encoding the conserved viral cyclins [53, 54] whereas EBV utilizes a viral gene (EBNA3C) to enhance the functional activity of cellular cyclin D1 for cell cycle progression [55]. Though relevant examples are lacking in regulation of UPR, previous work on human cytomegalovirus (beta-herpesvirus) has shown that viral infection can upregulate GRP78 expression without affecting the UPR pathways [56, 57], while studies on the herpes simplex virus type 2 (alphaherpesvirus) revealed that the virus can encode a protein with chaperone-like activity. Therefore, although M1 is unique to MHV-68, we strongly believe that the human gamma-herpesviruses possess distinct chaperone-regulating approaches to achieve similar goals.

Our findings defined a new role for the M1 gene of MHV-68 in manipulating the host chaperone machinery. The ability of M1 to selectively activate the UPR signaling presents a unique opportunity for defining the sensing and activation mechanism of individual UPR pathways.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Clambey, E.T., H.W.t. Virgin, and S.H. Speck, *Disruption of the murine* gammaherpesvirus 68 M1 open reading frame leads to enhanced reactivation from latency. J Virol, 2000. **74**(4): p. 1973-84.
- 2. Clambey, E.T., H.W.t. Virgin, and S.H. Speck, *Characterization of a spontaneous 9.5-kilobase-deletion mutant of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 reveals tissue-specific genetic requirements for latency.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(13): p. 6532-44.
- 3. Townsley, A.C., B.M. Dutia, and A.A. Nash, *The m4 gene of murine gammaherpesvirus modulates productive and latent infection in vivo.* J Virol, 2004. **78**(2): p. 758-67.
- 4. van Berkel, V., et al., *Critical role for a high-affinity chemokine-binding protein in gamma-herpesvirus-induced lethal meningitis.* J Clin Invest, 2002. **109**(7): p. 905-14.
- 5. Macrae, A.I., et al., *Murid herpesvirus 4 strain 68 M2 protein is a B-cell-associated antigen important for latency but not lymphocytosis.* J Virol, 2003. **77**(17): p. 9700-9.
- 6. Jacoby, M.A., H.W.t. Virgin, and S.H. Speck, *Disruption of the M2 gene of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 alters splenic latency following intranasal, but not intraperitoneal, inoculation.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(4): p. 1790-801.
- Herskowitz, J.H., M.A. Jacoby, and S.H. Speck, *The murine gammaherpesvirus 68 M2 gene is required for efficient reactivation from latently infected B cells*. J Virol, 2005. **79**(4): p. 2261-73.
- 8. Herskowitz, J.H., et al., *Systematic mutagenesis of the murine gammaherpesvirus 68 M2 protein identifies domains important for chronic infection.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(7): p. 3295-310.
- 9. Evans, A.G., et al., *The M4 gene of gammaHV68 encodes a secreted glycoprotein and is required for the efficient establishment of splenic latency.* Virology, 2006. **344**(2): p. 520-31.
- 10. Hughes, D.J., et al., *Chemokine binding protein M3 of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 modulates the host response to infection in a natural host.* PLoS Pathog. **7**(3): p. e1001321.
- Song, M.J., et al., Identification of viral genes essential for replication of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 using signature-tagged mutagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005.
 102(10): p. 3805-10.
- 12. Evans, A.G., et al., *A gammaherpesvirus-secreted activator of Vbeta4+ CD8+ T cells regulates chronic infection and immunopathology.* J Exp Med, 2008. **205**(3): p. 669-84.
- 13. Lee, A.S., *The glucose-regulated proteins: stress induction and clinical applications*. Trends Biochem Sci, 2001. **26**(8): p. 504-10.

- Yoshida, H., et al., Identification of the cis-acting endoplasmic reticulum stress response element responsible for transcriptional induction of mammalian glucose-regulated proteins. Involvement of basic leucine zipper transcription factors. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(50): p. 33741-9.
- 15. Chan, C.P., et al., *Modulation of the unfolded protein response by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(18): p. 9279-87.
- 16. Federovitch, C.M., D. Ron, and R.Y. Hampton, *The dynamic ER: experimental approaches and current questions*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 2005. **17**(4): p. 409-14.
- 17. Yoshida, H., et al., *A time-dependent phase shift in the mammalian unfolded protein response*. Dev Cell, 2003. **4**(2): p. 265-71.
- Kaufman, R.J., Stress signaling from the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum: coordination of gene transcriptional and translational controls. Genes Dev, 1999. 13(10): p. 1211-33.
- 19. Lee, A.H., N.N. Iwakoshi, and L.H. Glimcher, *XBP-1 regulates a subset of endoplasmic reticulum resident chaperone genes in the unfolded protein response*. Mol Cell Biol, 2003. **23**(21): p. 7448-59.
- 20. Yu, C.Y., et al., *Flavivirus infection activates the XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response to cope with endoplasmic reticulum stress.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(23): p. 11868-80.
- 21. Wang, S.S., et al., *Circulating Chlamydia pneumoniae DNA and advanced coronary artery disease*. Int J Cardiol, 2007. **118**(2): p. 215-9.
- 22. Gardner, B.M. and P. Walter, *Unfolded proteins are Ire1-activating ligands that directly induce the unfolded protein response*. Science. **333**(6051): p. 1891-4.
- 23. Guerrero, C.A., et al., *Heat shock cognate protein 70 is involved in rotavirus cell entry.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(8): p. 4096-102.
- 24. Schelhaas, M., et al., Simian Virus 40 depends on ER protein folding and quality control factors for entry into host cells. Cell, 2007. **131**(3): p. 516-29.
- 25. Reyes-Del Valle, J., et al., *Heat shock protein 90 and heat shock protein 70 are components of dengue virus receptor complex in human cells.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(8): p. 4557-67.
- 26. Triantafilou, K., et al., *GRP78*, a coreceptor for cossackievirus A9, interacts with major histocompatibility complex class I molecules which mediate virus internalization. J Virol, 2002. **76**(2): p. 633-43.
- 27. Agostini, I., et al., *Heat-shock protein 70 can replace viral protein R of HIV-1 during nuclear import of the viral preintegration complex.* Exp Cell Res, 2000. **259**(2): p. 398-403.

- 28. Zarate, S., et al., *Interaction of rotaviruses with Hsc70 during cell entry is mediated by VP5*. J Virol, 2003. **77**(13): p. 7254-60.
- 29. Okamoto, T., et al., *Hepatitis C virus RNA replication is regulated by FKBP8 and Hsp90*. EMBO J, 2006. **25**(20): p. 5015-25.
- 30. Hu, J. and D. Anselmo, *In vitro reconstitution of a functional duck hepatitis B virus reverse transcriptase: posttranslational activation by Hsp90.* J Virol, 2000. **74**(24): p. 11447-55.
- 31. Kim, S.S., et al., *Expression of stable hepatitis B viral polymerase associated with GRP94 in E. coli.* Arch Virol, 2000. **145**(7): p. 1305-20.
- 32. Chatterji, U., et al., *The isomerase active site of cyclophilin A is critical for hepatitis C virus replication.* J Biol Chem, 2009. **284**(25): p. 16998-7005.
- 33. Waxman, L., et al., *Host cell factor requirement for hepatitis C virus enzyme maturation*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2001. **98**(24): p. 13931-5.
- 34. Choukhi, A., et al., *Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum chaperones in the folding of hepatitis C virus glycoproteins.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(5): p. 3851-8.
- 35. Lambert, C. and R. Prange, *Chaperone action in the posttranslational topological reorientation of the hepatitis B virus large envelope protein: Implications for translocational regulation.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(9): p. 5199-204.
- 36. Dubuisson, J. and C.M. Rice, *Hepatitis C virus glycoprotein folding: disulfide bond formation and association with calnexin.* J Virol, 1996. **70**(2): p. 778-86.
- 37. Prange, R., M. Werr, and H. Loffler-Mary, *Chaperones involved in hepatitis B virus morphogenesis.* Biol Chem, 1999. **380**(3): p. 305-14.
- 38. Chromy, L.R., J.M. Pipas, and R.L. Garcea, *Chaperone-mediated in vitro assembly of Polyomavirus capsids*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2003. **100**(18): p. 10477-82.
- 39. Maruri-Avidal, L., S. Lopez, and C.F. Arias, *Endoplasmic reticulum chaperones are involved in the morphogenesis of rotavirus infectious particles*. J Virol, 2008. **82**(11): p. 5368-80.
- 40. Geller, R., et al., Evolutionary constraints on chaperone-mediated folding provide an antiviral approach refractory to development of drug resistance. Genes Dev, 2007. 21(2): p. 195-205.
- 41. Gurer, C., et al., *ATPgammaS disrupts human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virion core integrity.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(9): p. 5557-67.
- 42. Spence, S.L. and J.M. Pipas, *SV40 large T antigen functions at two distinct steps in virion assembly.* Virology, 1994. **204**(1): p. 200-9.

- 43. Jamora, C., G. Dennert, and A.S. Lee, *Inhibition of tumor progression by suppression of stress protein GRP78/BiP induction in fibrosarcoma B/C10ME*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(15): p. 7690-4.
- 44. Reddy, R.K., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum chaperone protein GRP78 protects cells from apoptosis induced by topoisomerase inhibitors: role of ATP binding site in suppression of caspase-7 activation.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(23): p. 20915-24.
- 45. Cowen, L.E., et al., *Genetic architecture of Hsp90-dependent drug resistance*. Eukaryot Cell, 2006. **5**(12): p. 2184-8.
- 46. Neckers, L. and U. Tatu, *Molecular chaperones in pathogen virulence: emerging new targets for therapy*. Cell Host Microbe, 2008. **4**(6): p. 519-27.
- 47. Cowen, L.E. and S. Lindquist, *Hsp90 potentiates the rapid evolution of new traits: drug resistance in diverse fungi.* Science, 2005. **309**(5744): p. 2185-9.
- 48. Sun, X., et al., *Hsp90 inhibitors block outgrowth of EBV-infected malignant cells in vitro and in vivo through an EBNA1-dependent mechanism.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. **107**(7): p. 3146-51.
- Estrabaud, E., S. De Muynck, and T. Asselah, *Activation of unfolded protein response* and autophagy during HCV infection modulates innate immune response. J Hepatol. 55(5): p. 1150-3.
- 50. Todd, D.J., A.H. Lee, and L.H. Glimcher, *The endoplasmic reticulum stress response in immunity and autoimmunity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(9): p. 663-74.
- 51. Siegel, A.M., J.H. Herskowitz, and S.H. Speck, *The MHV68 M2 protein drives IL-10 dependent B cell proliferation and differentiation*. PLoS Pathog, 2008. **4**(4): p. e1000039.
- 52. Rousset, F., et al., *Interleukin 10 is a potent growth and differentiation factor for activated human B lymphocytes.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1992. **89**(5): p. 1890-3.
- 53. Sugaya, M., et al., Lymphatic dysfunction in transgenic mice expressing KSHV k-cyclin under the control of the VEGFR-3 promoter. Blood, 2005. **105**(6): p. 2356-63.
- 54. Sarek, G., A. Jarviluoma, and P.M. Ojala, *KSHV viral cyclin inactivates p27KIP1 through Ser10 and Thr187 phosphorylation in proliferating primary effusion lymphomas.* Blood, 2006. **107**(2): p. 725-32.
- 55. Saha, A., et al., *Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 3C facilitates G1-S transition by stabilizing and enhancing the function of cyclin D1*. PLoS Pathog. **7**(2): p. e1001275.
- 56. Shi-Chen Ou, D., et al., *Transcriptional activation of endoplasmic reticulum chaperone GRP78 by HCMV IE1-72 protein*. Cell Res. **21**(4): p. 642-53.

57. Buchkovich, N.J., et al., *The endoplasmic reticulum chaperone BiP/GRP78 is important in the structure and function of the human cytomegalovirus assembly compartment.* J Virol, 2009. **83**(22): p. 11421-8.

CHAPTER 5

THE HELICAE-PRIMASE COMPONENTS OF MHV-68

INHIBIT CELLULAR UPR

ABSTRACT

The unfolded protein response (UPR) poses both opportunities and threats to virus infection. An active UPR leads to universal translation attenuation, and transcriptional upregulation of genes encoding protein degradation factors. In addition, prolonged UPR triggers apoptosis. Therefore, it is crucial for the viruses to cope with the detrimental aspects of UPR in order to establish productive infection. In this study, we identified that one of the MHV-68 helicase-primase component ORF40 is capable of inhibiting host UPR at the early stage of virus infection. ORF40 downregulates each UPR signaling arms and the production of ER chaperone GRP78/GRP94 in both non-stressed and stressed environments. We provide evidence that ORF40 may function through binding to and stabilizing the interactions between GRP78 and the transmembrane stress sensors and thus prevent UPR initiation. We further show that the M1 can interfere with the anti-UPR function of ORF40. Considering the different expression pattern of ORF40 and M1 at the early and late stages of virus replication, it explains the dynamic modulation of MHV-68 infection on UPR during the infection cycle as depicted in the previous chapters. Finally, we show that such inhibitory effect of ORF40 is conserved in the other two helicase-primase components of MHV-68 (ORF44 and ORF56) and among other herpesviruses. These findings suggest that herpesviral helicase-primase factors may have evolved additional functions to protect virus from the deleterious effects of cellular UPR at the early stage of infection.

INTRODUCTION

As depicted in previous chapters, the details of the UPR signaling mechanisms have been well established. However, the question of how ER stress is "sensed" remains obscure. One theory states that in non-stress cells, the luminal domains (N termini) of PERK, IRE1 and ATF6 transducers are held by the ER chaperone GRP78, which prevents their aggregation and activation [1-3]. Whereas in response to ER stress, unfolded/misfolded proteins accumulate and compete away GRP78 from the transmembrane signaling transducers, allowing oligomerization and autophosphorylation of IRE1 and PERK, mobilization of ATF6 to the Golgi for activation, and finally launching the UPR program. Although the precise activation mechanisms of these proximal ER-stress sensors are not fully understood, dissociation from GRP78 seems to be a prerequisite. Still, other mechanisms are believed to contribute the initiation of the UPR, including direct activation of the UPR signaling proteins by unfolded proteins as discussed in Chapter 4 and in previous studies [4-7].

Many enveloped DNA and RNA viruses can induce and benefit from the production of ER chaperones downstream of UPR in the mammalian cells [8-12]. However, viruses that induce the stress program must face the consequences that can be detrimental to viral replication. Most notably, the general arrest of protein synthesis caused by the eIF2 α phosphorylation must be dealt with at the early stage of infection to allow the expression of viral and cellular proteins crucial for the proceeding of infection cycle; additionally, the induced expression of protein degradation factors could also considerably damage various viral replication machineries; finally, induction of apoptosis of the host cell can be deleterious and must be properly modulated. Therefore, it has been proposed that in order to survive the stress response, viruses developed

mechanisms that mediate the UPR, keeping the beneficial aspects while suppressing the harmful ones.

In the present work we show that ORF40 of MHV-68 can significantly inhibit host UPR through modulating individual UPR signaling pathways. We also investigated possible mechanisms on how ORF40 function as an inhibitor, and how ORF40 and M1 coordinate their opposite effects on UPR during MHV-68 replication.

ORF40 is recognized as one of the helicase-primase components of MHV-68 that function in the viral DNA replication complex [13]. MHV-68 also contains two other helicaseprimase components: ORF44 and ORF56. All three ORFs are essential for MHV-68 replication [14]. Interestingly, in this study, we demonstrated that ORF44 and ORF56 can also efficiently downregulate cellular UPR. Further investigation revealed that the inhibitory effect of viral helicase-primase factor is conserved in other members of the herpesvirus family.

RESULTS

ORF40 inhibits cellular UPR

In an unbiased screen conducted to identify viral modulators of cellular unfolded protein response (UPR) (described in Chapter 4, Figure 4-1), one of the viral open reading frames (ORFs), ORF40, showed strong anti-UPR activity. Co-transfection of ORF40-expressing plasmid with the GRP78-fluc reporter constructs in 293T cells produced a dose-dependent decrease in the reporter activity from the basal level (Figure 5-1A). Similar negative impact was observed in cells co-transfected with the GRP94-fluc reporter construct. To further assess whether ORF40 is capable of inhibiting an induced UPR, the identically transfected 293T were treated the ER stress inducer thapsigargin (Tg) at 10ng/ml for 24 hours. ORF40 expression

significantly lowered the reporter activity from an elevated level (Figure 5-1B). Notably, at the highest dose, ORF40 neutralized the positive effects of Tg on GRP78 promoter activity to a level comparable to, or lower than the DMSO-treated control (Figure 5-1B, upper panel). Consistent with reporter assay, increased expression of ORF40 led to a decreased expression level of GRP78 protein as depicted in Figure 5-1C.

Next, in order to pinpoint the signaling branch(es) through which ORF40 places the effect, we examined the activation status of each UPR signaling arm in ORF40-expressing cells. To assess whether ORF40 affects IRE1 pathway, we used the XBP1 splicing reporter construct (pXBP1u-fluc) to quantitatively measure the activity of the IRE1-XBP1 axis (as described in Chapter 4, Figure 4-8). ORF40 markedly reduced the reporter activity to more than 50% that of the vector control (Figure 5-2A). The activation state of the ATF6 branch was determined using an ATF6-specific reporter plasmid (p5XATF6-fluc) also described in Chapter 4, Figure 4-8. The reporter activity was also downregulated by ORF40 (Figure 5-2B). Finally, to investigate the PERK-mediated signaling in response to ORF40, we examined the phosphorylation of eIF2 α (p-eIF2 α) downstream of PERK. P-eIF2 α was strongly inhibited in cells expressing ORF40 as indicated by ratio of p-eIF2 α signal to that of total eIF2 α (Figure 5-2C). These results suggest that ORF40 is capable of downregulating each UPR signaling arms and inhibiting the overall cellular UPR.

ORF40 interacts with **GRP78** and the stress transducers

We next sought to define the mechanisms of how ORF40 inhibit cellular UPR. From the results of a Yeast-Two-Hybrid screen, which was performed to characterize viral-cellular protein interactions of MHV-68 infection [15], we found that ORF40 interacts with the ER chaperone



Figure 5-1. ORF40 inhibits cellular UPR. (A) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc or GRP94-fluc, PGK_RL, and either ORF40 expression plasmid or a vector control. The reporter activity was measured by dual-luciferase assay 24 hours post transfection. The ratio of firefly luciferase activity to renilla luciferase activity was calculated based on the value of the vector control (set as 1). (B) 293T cells were transfected as in (A). 8 hours post transfection, cells were treated with DMSO or Thapsigargin at 10ng/ml and analyzed 24 hour post transfection as described in (A). (C) Cells were transfected with ORF40 expression plasmids for 24 hours and were harvested for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for FLAG (ORF40), GRP78 and β-actin. The signal intensity of the bands was determined by ImageJ (NIH). **P*<0.05. ***P*<0.01; ****P*<0.001 by Student's t test.



Figure 5-2. ORF40 inhibits the UPR signaling pathways. (**A**) Reporter assay was performed as described in Figure 5-1A using the XBP1u-fluc (XBP-1 splicing reporter). (**B**) Reporter assay was performed using the 5XATF6-fluc plasmid. (**C**) 293T cells were transfected with ORF40 expression plasmid or the control vector for 24 hours, treated with 20nM Thapsigargin (TG) for 30 minutes and harvested for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for phosphorylated-eIF2a, total eIF2a, FLAG (ORF40) and β-actin.

GRP78. We were able to confirm the interaction by immunoprecipitation analysis in non-stress cells and cells induced with Thapsigargin (Figure 5-3A). GRP78 was detected using the antibody that recognizes the KDEL peptide. The tetrapeptide KDEL is a retention signal that prevents ER luminal protein, such as GRP78 and GRP94, from entering the secretary pathway [16-18]. Thus, the KDEL antibody recognizes both GRP78 and GRP94 chaperones, whereas as depicted in Figure 5-3A, ORF40 specifically interacts with GRP78, not GRP94.

Since GRP78 plays a crucial role in the UPR initiation through binding to the inactive stress sensors, we hypothesized that ORF40 inhibits individual UPR pathways and the global UPR through interacting with, and stabilizing the GRP78/sensor proteins complex in the plane of the ER membrane. To test this hypothesis, we co-expressed FLAG-tagged ORF40 plasmid with Myc-tagged PERK or IRE1 α plasmids respectively in 293T cells and immunuprecipitated the cell lysates using FLAG- or Myc-antibody conjugated beads. Intriguingly, ORF40 interacts with IRE1 α (Figure 5-3B, upper panel) and with PERK (lower panel). Also as expected, ORF40, IRE1 α , and PERK interact with GRP78. With these results, we propose that ORF40 binds to and sustains the inactive form of GRP78/ IRE1 α , GRP78/PERK complexes inside the ER lumen, and consequently suppresses the induction of cellular UPR.

M1 interferes with the anti-UPR function of ORF40 at late stages of infection

In Figure 3-3, we showed that cellular UPR was differentially regulated during MHV-68 infection: the UPR marker GRP78 was initially downregulated from 3 to12 hours post infection and became upregulated at later time points. We hypothesize that the viral suppressor (ORF40) of UPR play the inhibitory role at early stages of infection, whereas at the late stages of infection,



Figure 5-3. ORF40 interacts with GRP78, IRE1 and PERK. (A) 293T cells were transfected with FLAG-ORF40 expression plasmid and were harvest 24 hours post transfection for immunoprecipitation analysis using beads conjugated with FLAG, KDEL or non-specific IgG. Western blot was performed using antibodies specific for KDEL. (B) 293T cells were transfected with FLAG-ORF40 and Myc-IRE1a (upper panel) or Myc-PERK (lower panel) expression plasmids. Immunoprecipitation was performed using FLAG, Myc or IgG conjugated beads and western blot was performed using antibodies against Myc and FLAG epitope tags, and GRP78.

the inducer (M1) takes over and acts to enhance chaperone production as demonstrated in Chapter 4.

To investigate this possibility, we set out to determine the expression kinetics of ORF40 and M1 protein during MHV-68 infection. We constructed a recombinant MHV-68 with an HA tag on the C terminus of the M1 gene and a FLAG tag on the N terminus of ORF40. This arrangement allows simultaneous detection of the protein expression of the two genes. As shown in Figure 5-4A, ORF40 was induced as early as 4 hours post infection and its expression was maintained at a moderately high level thereafter. Whereas M1 was induced at later hours, and became detectable around 8 hours post infection. The expression of M1 peaked between12- to 24-hour time points. Similar to what has been shown in Figure 4-5, the expression kinetics of M1 approximated that of the capsid proteins ORF26 and M9, both of which have been identified as the late genes of MHV-68. Phosphonoacetic Acid (PAA) specifically inhibits viral DNA polymerase [20], and has been routinely used to distinguish the early and late genes in the herpesviruses [21]. Treatment of PPA significantly reduced the expression levels of M1 at 24hour post infection but had minimal impact on ORF40 expression, suggesting that M1 is a late gene of MHV-68 while ORF40 is an early gene.

In Chapter 4, we demonstrated M1 a robust inducer of the host UPR. We observed strong induction of the UPR reporter even with a small amount of M1 protein. However, despite the fact that M1 expression was induced at 8 hours post infection (Figure 5-4A), the GRP78 expression level was not affected (Figure 3-3). This led to our assumption that at the early stage of virus infection, when M1 protein is not abundantly expressed, ORF40 can negatively modulate the effect of M1 in inducing cellular UPR. To test this hypothesis, we co-transfected ORF40 with increasing amount of M1 in 293T cells containing the GRP78-fluc reporter construct. As shown

in Figure 5-4B, a low dose of M1 had minimal effect on the anti-UPR function of ORF40; whereas an increased does of M1 override the inhibition and significantly upregulated the reporter activity.

The above findings suggest that during MHV-68 infection, the helicase-primase components are expressed at earlier time and function to inhibit UPR induction; whereas M1 is induced at later stage of infection, and functions as a UPR inducer to upregulate chaperone gene expression.

The inhibitory effect of the helicase-primase components of MHV-68 is conserved

The MHV-68 possesses three helicase-primase components: ORF40, ORF44 and ORF56 [13]. We also examined the effect of ORF44 and ORF56 on cellular UPR. In the GRP78-fluc reporter system, both ORF44 and ORF56 significantly inhibited the reporter activity to more than 50% that of the vector control (Figure 5-5A), indicating that the three helicase-primase components of MHV-68 have similar effects on host UPR.

Counterparts of each of the three helicase-primase components have been identified in other herpesviruses. Sequence analysis has shown that MHV-68 ORF44 bears the highest sequence identity with the corresponding genes in other herpesviral genomes [22]. With that in mind, we assessed whether the ORF44 equivalents in KSHV and HCMV also have an impact on cellular UPR. Interestingly, ORF44 of KSHV and UL105 of HCMV (β-herpesvirus) strongly downregulated the GRP78 promoter activity (Figure 5-5B). This finding suggests that the anti-UPR function of the helicase-primase components may be a conservative function among the different herpesviruses.



Figure 5-4. M1 interferes with the anti-UPR function of ORF40. (**A**) 3T3 cells were infected with the recombinant M1cHA40FLAG-MHV-68 at MOI 10, and harvested at indicated time points for western blot analysis using antibodies specific for FLAG (ORF40), HA (M1), ORF26, M9 and β-actin. (**B**) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc, PGK-RL and indicated combination of ORF40 and M1-expressing plasmids. Cell lysates were harvested for dual luciferase analysis 24 hours post transfection.



Figure 5-5. The function of MHV-68 helicase-primase components in inhibiting UPR is conserved in other herpesviruses. (A) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc, PGK_RL, and ORF40, ORF44, ORF56 expression plasmids or a vector control. The reporter activity was measured by dual-luciferase assay 24 hours post transfection. (B) 293T cells were transfected with GRP78-fluc, MHV-68 ORF44, KSHV ORF44, HCMV UL105 expression plasmids or a vector control and analyzed by dual-luciferase assay 24 hours post transfection.

DISCUSSION

Manipulation of the host UPR by different viruses has been well documented in the literature. The non-beneficial downstream aspects of UPR, such as inhibition of translation initiation, induction of apoptotic cascades and ER-associated degradation, have been proposed to be mediated by the virus at the initiation stage of infection to allow the proceeding of viral replication cycle [9, 23-25]. In this study, we demonstrated that ORF40 of MHV-68 is capable of inhibiting cellular UPR at the early stages of the infection cycle. In both the normal and ERstressed cells, ORF40 negatively modulates UPR through downregulating each UPR signaling pathway. As one of the essential ORFs of the viral DNA replication complex, ORF40 is expected to play the role inside the nucleus. However, previous studies have shown that in KSHV and EBV, the components of the viral DNA replication complex mostly reside in the cytoplasm before nuclear translocation at a specific time [26, 27]. With this in mind, we hypothesize that the cytoplasmic ORF40 has evolved an additional function as a modulator of cellular responses outside the nucleus.

The preliminary mechanistic studies showed that ORF40 interacts with GRP78 and the stress sensors IRE1 and PERK. We propose the ORF40 controls the initiation of UPR signaling through binding to and stabilizing the inactive complexes of GRP78/IRE1 and GRP78/PERK (maybe GRP78/ATF6 as well) at the plane of ER membrane (Figure 5-3). In order to prove the hypothesis in the context of virus replication and in *in vivo* assays, it would be critical to determine the putative binding site(s) in the ORF40 protein. Because ORF40 is an essential gene of MHV-68, identifying the binding sites would allow the disruption of the anti-UPR function of ORF40 while preserving the helicase-primase activity through introducing point mutations into the viral genome.

In Chapter 4, we showed that MHV-68 possesses a strong UPR inducer: M1. It seems contradictory for the virus to carry both an inducer and an inhibitor to modulate host UPR. However, as shown in Figure 5-4A, ORF40 and M1 have very different expression kinetics during MHV-68 replication. ORF40, a member of the viral DNA replication complex, is induced at the very early stage of the viral life cycle, and its moderate expression level is sustained thereafter; whereas M1 is recognized as a late gene whose protein expression peaks along with the other late genes, including genes that encode most viral package proteins whose expression requires an increased protein folding capacity of the host cell. Considering the different expression patterns of ORF40 and M1 at different stages of virus replication, it explains the dynamic modulation of MHV-68 infection on UPR during its infection cycle depicted in Chapter 3. Although ORF40 functions as a strong inhibitor of cellular UPR and its expression is sustained throughout the viral life cycle, M1 is capable of overriding the anti-UPR activity of ORF40 later on when it becomes abundantly expressed and selectively activate the chaperone-producing pathways (Figure 5-4B). It would be interesting to reveal the mechanisms of how M1 takes over the negative control of ORF40 on cellular UPR; for instance, does M1 function through disrupting the interactions between ORF40 and the chaperone/sensor complexes?

Finally, we show that the anti-UPR function of ORF40 is conserved in the other two helicase-primase components of MHV-68 (ORF44 and ORF56). We also show that some of the helicase-primase counterparts in the other herpesviruses carry similar inhibitory function (Figure 5-5). These findings suggest that the examined herpesviral helicase-primase factors also have evolved additional functions to protect viruses from the deleterious effects of cellular. It is not surprising that many of the viral genes possess multiple functions, because with a compact genome, it is necessary for the virus to maximize the functionality of each viral gene available.
Still, whether the viral factors of KSHV and HCMV place the effect through a similar mechanism remains to be determined.

In summary, our data demonstrate that one of the helicase-primase components of MHV-68 can function as a UPR inhibitor at the early stage of virus replication, and it functions through stabilizing the inactive complexes of GRP78 and the stress sensors. This finding and the findings by other groups [8, 9, 11, 23-25, 28-36] suggest that proper modulation of the cellular UPR and is an important determinant for viral life cycle. This study also implicates that it is crucial to characterize the regulation of cellular responses at different stages of viral replication in order to gain a better understanding of the virus-host interactions during infection.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Kimata, Y., et al., *Genetic evidence for a role of BiP/Kar2 that regulates Ire1 in response to accumulation of unfolded proteins*. Mol Biol Cell, 2003. **14**(6): p. 2559-69.
- 2. Shen, J., et al., *ER stress regulation of ATF6 localization by dissociation of BiP/GRP78 binding and unmasking of Golgi localization signals.* Dev Cell, 2002. **3**(1): p. 99-111.
- 3. Bertolotti, A., et al., *Dynamic interaction of BiP and ER stress transducers in the unfolded-protein response*. Nat Cell Biol, 2000. **2**(6): p. 326-32.
- 4. Todd, D.J., A.H. Lee, and L.H. Glimcher, *The endoplasmic reticulum stress response in immunity and autoimmunity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. **8**(9): p. 663-74.
- 5. Gardner, B.M. and P. Walter, *Unfolded proteins are Ire1-activating ligands that directly induce the unfolded protein response*. Science, 2011. **333**(6051): p. 1891-4.
- 6. Credle, J.J., et al., *On the mechanism of sensing unfolded protein in the endoplasmic reticulum.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(52): p. 18773-84.
- 7. Kimata, Y., et al., *Two regulatory steps of ER-stress sensor Ire1 involving its cluster formation and interaction with unfolded proteins.* J Cell Biol, 2007. **179**(1): p. 75-86.
- 8. Smith, J.A., et al., *Reovirus induces and benefits from an integrated cellular stress response.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(4): p. 2019-33.
- 9. Isler, J.A., A.H. Skalet, and J.C. Alwine, *Human cytomegalovirus infection activates and regulates the unfolded protein response*. J Virol, 2005. **79**(11): p. 6890-9.
- 10. Isler, J.A., T.G. Maguire, and J.C. Alwine, *Production of infectious human cytomegalovirus virions is inhibited by drugs that disrupt calcium homeostasis in the endoplasmic reticulum.* J Virol, 2005. **79**(24): p. 15388-97.
- 11. Chan, C.P., et al., *Modulation of the unfolded protein response by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus spike protein.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(18): p. 9279-87.
- 12. Buchkovich, N.J., et al., *Human cytomegalovirus specifically controls the levels of the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone BiP/GRP78, which is required for virion assembly.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(1): p. 31-9.
- 13. Deng, H., et al., *Identification of cis sequences required for lytic DNA replication and packaging of murine gammaherpesvirus* 68. J Virol, 2004. **78**(17): p. 9123-31.
- Song, M.J., et al., Identification of viral genes essential for replication of murine gammaherpesvirus 68 using signature-tagged mutagenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. 102(10): p. 3805-10.

- 15. Lee, S., et al., An integrated approach to elucidate the intra-viral and viral-cellular protein interaction networks of a gamma-herpesvirus. PLoS Pathog, 2011. **7**(10): p. e1002297.
- 16. Munro, S. and H.R. Pelham, *A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins*. Cell, 1987. **48**(5): p. 899-907.
- 17. Vaux, D., J. Tooze, and S. Fuller, *Identification by anti-idiotype antibodies of an intracellular membrane protein that recognizes a mammalian endoplasmic reticulum retention signal.* Nature, 1990. **345**(6275): p. 495-502.
- 18. Pelham, H.R., *The retention signal for soluble proteins of the endoplasmic reticulum*. Trends Biochem Sci, 1990. **15**(12): p. 483-6.
- 19. Marchler-Bauer, A., et al., *CDD: a Conserved Domain Database for the functional annotation of proteins.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2011. **39**(Database issue): p. D225-9.
- 20. Leinbach, S.S., et al., *Mechanism of phosphonoacetate inhibition of herpesvirus-induced DNA polymerase*. Biochemistry, 1976. **15**(2): p. 426-30.
- 21. Ebrahimi, B., et al., *Transcriptome profile of murine gammaherpesvirus-68 lytic infection*. J Gen Virol, 2003. **84**(Pt 1): p. 99-109.
- 22. Virgin, H.W.t., et al., *Complete sequence and genomic analysis of murine gammaherpesvirus* 68. J Virol, 1997. **71**(8): p. 5894-904.
- 23. Tardif, K.D., K. Mori, and A. Siddiqui, *Hepatitis C virus subgenomic replicons induce* endoplasmic reticulum stress activating an intracellular signaling pathway. J Virol, 2002. **76**(15): p. 7453-9.
- 24. Tardif, K.D., et al., *Hepatitis C virus suppresses the IRE1-XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(17): p. 17158-64.
- 25. Ambrose, R.L. and J.M. Mackenzie, *West Nile virus differentially modulates the unfolded protein response to facilitate replication and immune evasion.* J Virol, 2011. **85**(6): p. 2723-32.
- 26. Wu, F.Y., et al., Origin-independent assembly of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus DNA replication compartments in transient cotransfection assays and association with the ORF-K8 protein and cellular PML. J Virol, 2001. **75**(3): p. 1487-506.
- 27. Gao, Z., et al., *The Epstein-Barr virus lytic transactivator Zta interacts with the helicaseprimase replication proteins.* J Virol, 1998. **72**(11): p. 8559-67.
- 28. Montero, H., et al., *Rotavirus infection induces the phosphorylation of eIF2alpha but prevents the formation of stress granules.* J Virol, 2008. **82**(3): p. 1496-504.

- 29. Bechill, J., et al., *Coronavirus infection modulates the unfolded protein response and mediates sustained translational repression*. J Virol, 2008. **82**(9): p. 4492-501.
- 30. Williams, B.L. and W.I. Lipkin, *Endoplasmic reticulum stress and neurodegeneration in rats neonatally infected with borna disease virus*. J Virol, 2006. **80**(17): p. 8613-26.
- 31. Trujillo-Alonso, V., et al., *Rotavirus infection induces the unfolded protein response of the cell and controls it through the nonstructural protein NSP3*. J Virol, 2011. **85**(23): p. 12594-604.
- 32. Hassan, I.H., et al., *Influenza A viral replication is blocked by inhibition of the inositolrequiring enzyme 1 (IRE1) stress pathway.* J Biol Chem, 2012. **287**(7): p. 4679-89.
- 33. Pasqual, G., et al., *Role of the host cell's unfolded protein response in arenavirus infection.* J Virol, 2011. **85**(4): p. 1662-70.
- 34. Minakshi, R., et al., *The SARS Coronavirus 3a protein causes endoplasmic reticulum stress and induces ligand-independent downregulation of the type 1 interferon receptor*. PLoS One, 2009. **4**(12): p. e8342.
- 35. Su, H.L., C.L. Liao, and Y.L. Lin, *Japanese encephalitis virus infection initiates endoplasmic reticulum stress and an unfolded protein response.* J Virol, 2002. **76**(9): p. 4162-71.
- 36. Yu, C.Y., et al., *Flavivirus infection activates the XBP1 pathway of the unfolded protein response to cope with endoplasmic reticulum stress.* J Virol, 2006. **80**(23): p. 11868-80.

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

SUMMARY

Gammaherpesviruses persist in life-long infections through establishing a harmonious relationship with their natural hosts. A delicate balance between the viral replication and host responses must be achieved for successful infection. This dissertation examines host-pathogen interactions that ensure efficient infection of MHV-68, a model gammaherpesvirus for the human gammaherpesviruses KSHV and EBV. Specifically, we studied the interaction between MHV-68 and a cellular response termed the unfolded protein response (UPR). The first part (Chapter 3) of the thesis investigates the interaction between MHV-68 infection and host UPR, while the second part (Chapter 4 and 5) characterized two viral genes that play distinct roles in regulating the host UPR at different stages of MHV-68 replication. These studies have significant implications regarding our understanding of virus and host interactions during gammaherpesvirus infection.

Chapter 3 describes the mutual influences between the cellular UPR and MHV-68 replication. We found that chemical-induced UPR can significantly boost the production of infectious MHV-68. Further investigation revealed that enhancing the IRE1 α or ATF6 signaling alone can lead to a vastly increased production of infectious virions; on the other hand, when activating the PERK signaling, which attenuates global protein synthesis, has no obvious effect on viral replication. We also investigated the impact of MHV-68 replication on host UPR. Interestingly, infection of MHV-68 at the early stage results in an inhibited UPR, whereas during the time of viral assembly, UPR becomes strongly upregulated. These findings suggest that the cellular UPR plays different roles and is differentially regulated during the course of MHV-68 infection.

Chapter 4 presents the results of an unbiased screen performed to identify viral mediators of the cellular UPR. Further characterization of one such viral protein, M1, was conducted to understand its molecular mechanism in regulating the UPR. M1, a non-essential gene specific to MHV-68, strongly enhances the ER chaperone production and induces ER expansion. Further investigation demonstrated that the M1 protein localizes to the ER during MHV-68 infection, and it functions through selective activating of the IRE1 α and ATF6 pathways to promote chaperone production, while sparing PERK pathway which blocks translation. M1 is the first viral factor identified to date that is capable of selectively intervening the initiation of ER stress and skewing the signaling toward the beneficial aspects of UPR. This finding also provides a unique opportunity of using viral protein as a tool to define the activation mechanisms of individual UPR pathways.

Chapter 5 reports the characterization of viral genes with anti-UPR activity. ORF40, one of the helicase-primase components of MHV-68, was identified to inhibit host UPR at the early stage of virus infection. ORF40 strongly downregulates each UPR signaling arms and limit the production of ER chaperone GRP78/GRP94 in both normal and stressed cells. Evidence was provided that ORF40 may function through interacting with and stabilizing the inactive complexes of GRP78 and UPR initiators. Further investigation shows that M1 can overcome the anti-UPR function of ORF40 at the late stages of viral replication. Lastly, we show that anti-UPR function of ORF40 is conserved in the other two helicase-primase components of MHV-68 (ORF44 and ORF56) and among a few other herpesviruses assessed, suggesting a conserved effect in the herpesviral family.

PERSPECTIVES

The above work led to interesting observations about the dynamic and ever-changing virus-host interactions at different stages of infection. It was unexpected that MHV-68 installs multiple genes in its genome that play opposite roles towards the same host response. Despite further studies demonstrated that these genes functions at different stages of the viral life cycle, it is surprising that how delicate the virus operates and coordinates the activity of different genes to satisfy its needs. These results once again underscore the importance and complexity of virus-host interactions during gammaherpesvirus infection, a lot of which remain to be decoded.

To elucidate the many uncovered interactions can be a daunting task if taking the traditional approach, i.e. studying one or two cellular/viral factors at a time. In such case, our group along with other groups has conducted various large-scale screens, including yeast-two-hybrid [1], cDNA [2], siRNA, kinase [3], and transcription factor library screens, to identify cellular and viral regulators that are involved in the infection cycle of gammaherpesvirus. These high-throughput methods are extremely powerful and have provided valuable insights into the virus-host interactions during gammaherpesvirus replication. However, one major concern of these screens is that all of the analyses measure the "averaged" readouts across the infected and uninfected cell populations. Considering the dynamics and variability of the viral infection cycle, significant biology could be masked by such averaging. We thus sought to employ a rapid, multiparametric approach to study virus-host interaction at the single-cell level.

One applicable technique is the phospho-specific flow cytometry (or Phospho-flow) that has emerged recently as a novel approach to track signaling events in individual cells [4-6]. Phospho-flow measures phosphorylation events by flow cytometry using fluorophore-labeled antibodies that target specific phospho-epitopes. This form of 'single-cell proteomics' can

identify cellular signaling pathways that become activated or inhibited in the infected cells; it can also quantitatively measure the changes of the viral protein expression in altered cellular environments at different stages of infection; more importantly, results from these analyses can be integrated together to create a network map of signaling events that are important for viral infection, and further to link specific signaling profiles with the outcomes of viral infection. We have applied this technique in a number of biological systems including the KSHV reactivation system. We used 5-drug combinations (Bortezomib, db-cAMP, Prostratin, Valproate, and Dexamethasone) as stimuli to induce virus reactivation and performed Phospho-flow analysis to quantitatively measure the activation statue of various signaling proteins, and correlate that to the levels of KSHV reactivation that was also quantified by flow cytometry. Significant correlation was observed between signaling pathways and viral reactivation that are previously known, suggesting that the approach is accurate and applicable.

Although still at the exploratory stage of this new technology, we are confident that with the increasing reservoir of phospho-specific antibodies, advancing of the technology (e.g. Cytof, single-cell mass cytometry [7]) and computational analysis, we will be able to accelerate the process of discovering new virus-host interactions. The enrichment of the interaction network that connects various cellular and viral machineries would add tremendous understanding to the gammaherpesvirus persistent infection and help developing therapeutic strategies against the virus-associated diseases.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Lee, S., et al., An integrated approach to elucidate the intra-viral and viral-cellular protein interaction networks of a gamma-herpesvirus. PLoS Pathog, 2011. **7**(10): p. e1002297.
- 2. Yu, F., et al., *Systematic identification of cellular signals reactivating Kaposi sarcomaassociated herpesvirus.* PLoS Pathog, 2007. **3**(3): p. e44.
- 3. Li, X., et al., *Tpl2/AP-1 enhances murine gammaherpesvirus 68 lytic replication.* J Virol, 2010. **84**(4): p. 1881-90.
- 4. Sachs, K., et al., *Causal protein-signaling networks derived from multiparameter single-cell data.* Science, 2005. **308**(5721): p. 523-9.
- 5. Krutzik, P.O. and G.P. Nolan, *Fluorescent cell barcoding in flow cytometry allows highthroughput drug screening and signaling profiling.* Nat Methods, 2006. **3**(5): p. 361-8.
- 6. Krutzik, P.O., et al., *Fluorescent cell barcoding for multiplex flow cytometry.* Curr Protoc Cytom, 2011. **Chapter 6**: p. Unit 6 31.
- 7. Bodenmiller, B., et al., *Multiplexed mass cytometry profiling of cellular states perturbed by small-molecule regulators.* Nat Biotechnol, 2012. **30**(9): p. 858-67.